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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
‘GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HITESMES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S STATEMENT

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Period"),
the business environment remained difficult because of the continued
tension between the United States of America (the “US”) and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC" or “China”). The US government imposed
sanctions against and restrictions on some Chinese technology companies,
thus causing delays in information technology projects in China. The
situation was exacerbated by the outbreak of the novel coronavirus
pneumonia pandemic which disrupted economic activities.

Nevertheless, the disease turned out to present opportunities for certain
sectors of the information system solution industry because social
distancing required for the prevention of the pandemic added impetus to
a growing trend for people to move their daily activities online. This,
coupled with the Chinese government’s ongoing efforts to build a new
type of infrastructure for such industries as information technology and
telecommunications in support of the country’s industrial upgrading and
transformation, helped to fuel a boom in China’s digital economy.
Specifically, there is huge room for growth in the country’s market for
convenient digital services such as information verification, electronic
signature and transaction security as they play a key role in enabling online
daily activities.

To cope with and capitalize on the complicated operating environment,
Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”, which together with its
subsidiaries, is referred to as the “Group”) continued with its two-pronged
strategy for business development. On the one hand, it stepped up its
business diversification drive to broaden its income stream, especially
through the further development of the business of internet electronic
identity authentication of its majority-owned subsidiary Shenzhen CITIC
Cyber Security Authentication Co,, Ltd. CRIITHRERLREBR AR
(“CITIC Cyber Security”). This helped it get through the difficult business
environment and take full advantage of China’s booming digital economy
to a greater extent. On the other hand, the Group cooperated with various
sectors and industries in constructing an ecosystem of online/offline digital
payments through its mainstay business. In that ecosystem, comprehensive
online shopping platforms are connected to digital payment systems for
public utilities with a technology for unified communications.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HITESMES

During the Reporting Period, CITIC Cyber Security marked a milestone in its
development by entering into an agreement dated 30 September 2020 to
form a digital technology joint venture company with China’s three major
telecommunications carriers, namely China Mobile Communications Group
Co,, Ltd,, China United Network Communications Group Company Limited
and China Telecommunications Corporation, and Beijing Chinese Shield
Anicert Technology Development Co., Ltd., which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Beijing Zhongdun Security Technology Development Co., a
state-owned public security technology company. The joint venture
company will leverage the three telecommunications carriers’ service
capabilities and customer bases as well as the advantages of subscriber
identification module (SIM) such as convenience and strong capabilities for
computing and data storage to enable the public to log in and authorize
transactions with convenience and cyber security. The joint venture
company will initially introduce its services into transportation, mobile
public services and transactions at banks.

This breakthrough is achieved on the back of CITIC Cyber Security’s past
achievements. It had developed eCitizen, which is its proprietary product
for electronic identity authentication that enables users of services to safely
log in, sign digitally and have their personal data protected in online
transactions. CITIC Cyber Security had already undertaken projects to apply
eCitizen to some banks’ financial services and electronic signature and to
conduct information verification for some other companies. In July 2020,
CITIC Cyber Security signed a contract to build a unified digital
authentication system, carry out application integration and operate and
maintain such system for an information technology subsidiary of a China-
based transportation infrastructure design and construction firm.

Other businesses that the Group had also diversified into since the financial
year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Previous Period") included subleasing
co-working spaces of an office building in Shenzhen to mainly financial
technology start-ups; the supply of electrical and electronic components,
namely inductors and master control chips; the research on and
development of an application for an online learning platform, financial
software and related information technology system and solution, and
information systems for housing; and the supply and installation of
surveillance cameras as part of a security system.

In its mainstay business of developing systems and solutions for online/
offline digital payment, the Group was undertaking a project on the
development and construction of a unified payment system and
platform, and the provision of repair and maintenance services for such a
system and platform for the Shenzhen-based subsidiary of a leading
telecommunications company of China.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HITESMES

The rapid advancement of information and communications technology
has contributed to a boom in China’s digital economy and has opened up
myriad, new opportunities for many sectors and industries. Digital
solutions, as a key element of a digital economy, have huge market
potential. In order to tap China’s enormous market, the Group will work
closely with the country’s three major telecommunications carriers who
have reached an agreement with CITIC Cyber Security to form a digital
technology joint venture company. The joint venture company will provide
digital solutions for financial institutions, government departments and
enterprises and render convenient digital services such as information
verification, electronic signature and transaction security as part of digital
solutions to both the public and enterprises. Such services can, for
example, enable mobile public services, make transportation more
convenient and enhance financial transaction security.

Running two complementary businesses of internet electronic identity
authentication and the development of systems and solutions for online/
offline digital payment, the Group is well-positioned to capitalize on
China’s booming digital economy. It will also keep an eye open for
opportunities for investing in other businesses that can complement its
existing operations or further widen its income stream.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude to the board
of directors, the employees and the business partners of the Company. We

will continue to work closely together for a brighter future.

Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 11 June 2021

6 Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2021

EERBERMES—BTE  #HBHTHEHEF
RENEDER - U RZETEFREIIRE -
BACBATRERBFRENERER  AF
EXOMHEN - REATENERNS - A%
BHEEMAERLEXN BRI LAFHREE
AREMBEAZAXEELEBRETEIF - RERTA
B RS - BRI REREHEF(CHER
TROBMR  wREEERE EFFEER
RH5R2EEENBFARY - PINEERBES
B ERRBHETNMNASRRHLZE2ENH
FIERRTTER ©

EMEEFHORBEBNRL /B THEFTIAN
AERBRTRAZIGENEEEE BN
AEBLEEFHEBEFEEEDEROBE - A%
ETESKRERMEBNEE  UHHEREA
K E T BABRARR -

AANEREARE  AAATEFE  BIRYE
BBHEH - AREERERAE  BEEFY
HRAEF -

HITEE

e

HE - —FXA+—H



Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR 5w Mo

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Period"), the
novel coronavirus pneumonia pandemic and the United States of America
(the "United States”) government’s sanctions against and restrictions on
certain technology companies from the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC" or “China") made the operating environment difficult for information
system solution industry in China.

Nevertheless, the pandemic turned out to have a silver lining for certain
sectors of the information system solution industry — social distancing
required for the combat against the disease added impetus to a growing
trend for people to switch over to online means of getting things done
from the conventional offline methods. Online daily activities such as
online shopping, “remote office”, “paperless office” and electronic signature
were gaining traction at a faster pace during the pandemic. They are also
part of the growing digital economy. According to iiMedia Research, a data
mining and analysis organization for new economy industries, digital
economy was a major driver of China’s economy, accounting for about
35.8% of the country’s gross domestic product in 2020. Specifically, there is
huge room for growth in the country’s market for digital identity
verification, which plays a key role in enabling online daily activities. This, in
turn, means more business opportunities for the industry of electronic
signature, which is a key element of digital identity verification. The
industry of electronic signature has been growing rapidly in China and the
trend was even more pronounced during the pandemic. According to
iiMedia Research, the size of China’s market for electronic signature is
projected to surge at a compound annual growth rate of more than 30%
from RMB10.82 billion in 2020 to RMB25 billion in 2023 (Source: “2020-2021
FRESFEBITRERE M EBE 9" dated 7 March 2021 on
iiMedia.cn (3 5 #48)). There is huge demand for electronic signature from
diverse industries and sectors, including financial service, healthcare,
human resources management, property sector, public services and
electronic commerce, etc.

According to figures presented at the 3rd Digital China Summit held from
12 to 14 October 2020, there were 5 billion data on the country’s internet-
enabled platform for credible identification (CTID) at the time of the event,
including those on residents’ identity cards, electronic passports, mainland
travel permits, social security cards and civil registration; identity verification
through CTID had been conducted more than 3.5 billion times with the
daily average of 15 million times for more than 350 institutions in more
than 50 sectors and industries, including government administration,
public security, internet industry and financial sector, etc. All these have
indicated the considerable progress in the development of the country’s
digital identity verification.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR E R A Mo

As to the demand of the end-users of the online/offline payment systems
in 2020, the value of the payments processed by non-bank payment
institutions through public information technology networks increased by
17.88% to RMB294.56 trillion in the PRC, according to the People’s Bank of
China. Meanwhile, the number of such payments grew by 14.90% in 2020
to about 827.297 billion in the country.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In order to ride out the challenging operating environment, the Company
pressed ahead with its business diversification to broaden its income
stream during the Reporting Period. Meanwhile, it also seized the business
opportunities in China's booming digital economy. Its efforts in this regard
are best illustrated by its move to step up the development of its business
of internet electronic identity authentication through its 70%-held
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co,, Ltd. GEYITTFR{Z48 %
ZEAR AT (‘CITIC Cyber Security”).

The disruptions inflicted by the outbreak of the novel coronavirus
pneumonia pandemic accelerated the trend for businesses and consumers
to move many of their daily activities online. This helped to fuel the boom
in China’s digital economy and led to growing demand for internet
electronic identity authentication.

CITIC Cyber Security capitalized on the trend by deciding to speed up the
development of its business of internet electronic identity authentication,
especially the market penetration of eCitizen ("e 2" in Chinese), which is
its proprietary product for electronic identity authentication that enables
users of services to safely log in, sign digitally and have their personal data

protected in online transactions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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To boost its business development, CITIC Cyber Security passed another
milestone by entering into an agreement dated 30 September 2020 to
form a joint venture company with China’s three major
telecommunications carriers, namely China Mobile Communications Group
Co., Ltd. (“China Mobile Group”), China United Network Communications
Group Company Limited (“China Unicom Group”) and China
Telecommunications Corporation (“China Telecom Corporation”), and
Beijing Chinese Shield Anicert Technology Development Co., Ltd., which is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Beijing Zhongdun Security Technology
Development Co., which, in turn, is a state-owned public security
technology company (For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 10 February 2021 and circular dated 26 May 2021
published on the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited).
The joint venture company will be positioned as a digital technology
company which provides financial institutions, government departments
and enterprises with digital solutions for cyber security. It will leverage the
three telecommunications carriers’ service capabilities and customer bases
as well as the advantages of subscriber identification module (SIM) such as
convenience and strong capabilities for computing and data storage to
enable the public to log in and authorize transactions with convenience
and cyber security. The joint venture company will initially introduce its
services into transportation, mobile public services and transactions at
banks.

For CITIC Cyber Security, this breakthrough in business development is
built on its past achievements as it had already undertaken projects to
apply eCitizen to some banks’ financial services and electronic signature
and to conduct information verification for some other companies.

During the Reporting Period, CITIC Cyber Security signed three separate
contracts to conduct information verification for a securities brokerage, a
certificate authority and a mainland China-based full-service investment
banking enterprise through websites, application programming interface
(API) or terminals. In July 2020, CITIC Cyber Security signed a contract to
build a unified digital authentication system, carry out application
integration and operate and maintain such system for an information
technology subsidiary of a China-based transportation infrastructure
design and construction firm.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CITIC Cyber Security had earlier signed an agreement with the Shenzhen
branch of a PRC-based bank to jointly promote each other’s respective
services, namely CITIC Cyber Security's internet electronic identity
authentication and the bank’s financial services in June 2019. Under this
agreement, eCitizen would be applied to the bank's financial services. In
June 2019, CITIC Cyber Security also reached an agreement with a
Shenzhen-based certificate authority to cooperate in combining eCitizen
SIM card and digital certificates and in applying the two combined
technologies to such fields as electronic signature. In January 2020, CITIC
Cyber Security signed a contract to develop and implement on behalf of
another PRC-based bank a platform for signing, managing and auditing
contracts electronically.

Other businesses that the Group had also diversified into since the Previous
Period included subleasing co-working spaces of an office building in
Shenzhen to mainly financial technology start-ups; the supply of electrical
and electronic components, namely inductors and master control chips;
the research on and development of an application for an online learning
platform, financial software and related information technology system
and solution, and information systems for housing; and the supply and
installation of surveillance cameras as part of a security system. During the
Reporting Period, the Group also undertook the research and development
of various systems or devices, including a navigation and positioning
system for unmanned vehicles and aircraft that can be operated in
combination with cameras, Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS) or
maps; an intelligent cloud platform system for distant interaction; a cross-
platform, high-performance player; a simplified version of an enterprise
resource planning (ERP) system; and an information security system with
multiple licences for small and medium-sized financial holding companies.

1. Development and construction of unified payment
system and platform, and the provision of repair
and maintenance services for such system and
platform

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Guangzhou YBDS IT Co.,
Ltd. (BB R 15 ERHEBBR A 7)) (‘Guangzhou YBDS’), won a
tender in October 2019 for a contract to develop and maintain a
unified payment system and platform of the Shenzhen-based
subsidiary of a leading telecommunications company for years 2019
to 2021. The system and platform enable mobile wallet users to
make mobile payment such as those of phone bills and to redeem
consumption points and gift cards. It signed the contract in
December 2019. Guangzhou YBDS intends to replicate the unified
payment system and platform and then sell them to other units and/
or subsidiaries of that leading telecommunications company in 31
provinces in the PRC.
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Business of office rental which is bundled with
information technology services and office
administration services in Shenzhen

CITIC Cyber Security started a business of subleasing co-working
spaces of an office building in Shenzhen to mainly financial
technology start-ups in the Previous Period. The office rental is
bundled with its information technology services and some office
administration services. During the Reporting Period, it subleased
some co-working spaces to 19 more companies, bringing the total
number of tenants to 31.

Research on and development of an application
for online learning platform, financial software
and related information technology system and
solution, and information systems for housing

During the Previous Period, the Group signed a contract to research
on and develop an application for an online learning platform,
financial software and related information technology system and
solution, and information systems for housing on behalf of an
information technology solution provider for the period from 15
October 2019 to 14 October 2020. The information systems for
housing include those for a user’s application management, property
management and leasing management.

Supply, installation and testing of surveillance
cameras as part of a security system

The Company'’s another wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen YBDS IT
Co, Ltd. CF YT B 1B {5 BB B R 2 &) (‘Shenzhen YBDS")
supplied, installed and tested surveillance cameras as part of a
security system on behalf of a company that develops and trades in
security alarms, security cameras and home surveillance equipment,
and other electronic products during the Reporting Period.

Development and implementation of a platform
for electronically signing, managing and auditing
contracts

In January 2020, CITIC Cyber Security signed a contract to develop
and implement on behalf of a PRC-based bank a platform for signing,
managing and auditing contracts electronically. The contract was
completed in March 2021. It also signed a contract in March 2020 to
supply information technology equipment to that bank to enable
the said platform and it had finished the contract during the first
quarter ended 30 June 2020.

RRJIRERAZHERT WU
EERM RSB R} AETERSE

RBERE - PEERSEMLRRIIN— B
MAERBOBHRBIIEERNER - P
TERVENERBREE - ZMAEHE
EE R P ER L ARENE BRMRE &
EHTWHAETERRE - RREHME - PES
ZHOMETHBIEZRTE+TARAR
HPeguEE=1+—M@-

MR BBV REAREN - &8
B4 RABREERMAGERRT
R URERGEERS

RBEHRE - ARERF T —0EeH K=
Z-NF+A+EBEZ_TF+ATH
BR—REBRMART RH B EG
SEFaRAREN  2REMMEREER
MERBEFRT R - UREFERRS - %
EEFREERGERAPMNEREATERRE
BES MEEREERARNEFERER

RRTAGHE RERAAEE
B

RBEHRE - ARRAIB—R2EMBRRR
Y EeRERARAR (TRYIRE]) A
—MHERERRLZLERE  REBEE
RAEERERECETERNA AN —E
REFGHE - RERA AR -

BMRUETHAEE  EEREX
SRWMTE > BSHBE

RZTEZZEF—F FEHEZEE—MHE
4 ARE—RFITHAZEUETHIAES -
ERRBZANNTE  WSHEE - %ZE
HNER-_E-_—FZAZK -N_ZT=_ZF
ZAMIN—HBEH  MZBITREEER
MEBEARAZTEE  TEREE-_Z=F
FRAZTBHLE—FTEEXZHELD -

BFEHEERAT
B —FERE 11



Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE R RS

AT

Conducting information verification for other
companies

During the third quarter of the Reporting Period ended 31 December
2020, CITIC Cyber Security signed two separate contracts to conduct
information verification for a securities brokerage and a certificate
authority through websites, application programming interface (API)
or terminals. Previously, it signed an agreement with a Shenzhen-
based information technology system developer in June 2020 to
conduct information verification on behalf of a mainland China-
based full-service investment banking enterprise.

Construction of a unified digital authentication
system, application integration and operation and
maintenance of the system

In July 2020, CITIC Cyber Security signed a contract to build a unified
digital authentication system, carry out application integration and
operate and maintain such system for an information technology
subsidiary of a China-based transportation infrastructure design and
construction firm. CITIC Cyber Security provided both services and
hardware for its client.

PROSPECT

The Group will continue its two-pronged strategy for business

development. On one hand, it will further the development of its majority-
owned internet electronic identity authentication firm CITIC Cyber Security
as part of its business diversification drive. The move not only can broaden
the Group’s income stream to help it ride out the difficult operating
environment but also enables it to take advantage of China’s booming
digital economy to a greater extent. On the other hand, the Group will
continue to cooperate with various types of businesses in constructing an

ecosystem of online/offline digital payments in which comprehensive,

online shopping platforms are connected to digital payment systems for
public utilities with a technology for unified communications.
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The rapid advancement of information and communications technology
has contributed to the boom in China’s digital economy and has given rise
to countless possibilities for many sectors and industries. Financial
technology and China’s national digital currency DCEP (Digital Currency
Electronic Payment) in particular are cases in point. To support the
country’s ongoing industrial upgrading and transformation, the Chinese
government is committed to building a new type of infrastructure for such
industries as information technology and telecommunications. The
upgraded infrastructure will also serve to facilitate the further development
of the market for online/offline payment which, in turn, will also generate
more demand for internet electronic identity authentication. The latter can
help prevent the leakage of personal data and the theft of personal identity
in online transactions and payments. Therefore, there is synergy between
the Group's internet electronic identity authentication business and its
mainstay business of developing systems and solutions for online/offline
digital payment.

The Group will cooperate closely with China's three major
telecommunications carriers, namely China Mobile Group, China Unicom
Group and China Telecom Corporation, and leverage their huge
telecommunications networks, well-developed telecommunications
infrastructure, immense sales channels and extensive market coverage to
provide digital solutions for financial institutions, government departments
and enterprises. It will also render digital services such as information
verification, electronic signature and transaction security as part of digital
solutions to both the public and enterprises. Such services can, for
example, make transportation more convenient and enhance financial
transaction security. The Group will further develop the digital technology
business with the aim of increasing its revenue and profit.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Company raised net proceeds of approximately HK$S100 million
through a subscription (the “Subscription”) on 5 August 2013 by issuing
450,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a subscription price of
HK$0.225 per ordinary share of the Company to Happy On Holdings
Limited ("Happy On"). Immediately after the completion of the
Subscription, Happy On held 987,888,771 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 72.83% of the total issued share capital of the
Company.
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As stipulated in the circular of the Company dated 11 July 2013, such
proceeds were to be applied in (i) paying and contributing to the
registered capital, increased registered capital and further investment in
Guangzhou YBDS and Beijing YBDS IT Co., Ltd.* (1t REEIEEZ BRI A
[& ‘A &) (‘Beijing YBDS"), the two indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, especially for Beijing YBDS in order to meet the minimum
capital threshold requirement when submitting bids for the proposed
projects offered by relevant telecommunications service providers in the
PRC; and (ii) general working capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company applied
approximately HK$19,785,000 of the proceeds to pay up the outstanding
remaining increased registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS. As the
Company acquired China Mobile Payment Technology Group Company
Limited (“China Mobile Payment’) on 23 December 2014, a holding
company that owns a subsidiary with the aforesaid threshold requirement
for bids submission, Beijing YBDS was no longer needed and had been de-
registered on 17 June 2016. As stated in the announcement dated 23
December 2014, the part of proceeds of approximately HK$45.5 million
originally earmarked for Beijing YBDS' registered capital and the capital
increase, together with the remaining balance of the proceeds were then
added to the Company'’s capital for new potential projects and general
working capital purposes.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3
June 2013, 5 August 2013, 20 August 2014 and 23 December 2014, and the
circulars dated 11 July 2013 and 10 November 2014.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$41,242,000, representing an increase of approximately
55% when compared with that in the Previous Period of approximately
HK$26,556,000.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$16,703,000 compared with loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$26,710,000 for the Previous Period.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments

During the Reporting Period, when compared with the Previous Period,
revenue generated from hardware sales increased by approximately 44%,
while revenue from services increased by approximately 68%.
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Geographical segments

The provision of system development services and other value-added
technical consultation services and hardware-related business mainly
caters for the PRC market. Revenue from the Hong Kong segment
represented nil of the total revenue (Previous Period: nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2021, the shareholders’ funds of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$28,413,000. Current assets were approximately
HK$56,525,000, mainly comprised of cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$18,847,000, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately HK$28,623,000 and trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$8,830,000. Current liabilities mainly comprised trade and
other payables of approximately HK$34,349,000. The net asset value per
share was approximately HK$0.018. The Group's gearing ratio, expressed as
a percentage of bank borrowings and long term debts over total equity,
was nil. The liquidity ratio of the Group, determined as a ratio of current
assets over current liabilities, was 1.54:1 (as at 31 March 2020: 0.8:1).

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and China. The Group's assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
Renminbi. The currency exchange rate risk of the Group is immaterial, and
the Group did not engage in any hedging activities. However, the
management will monitor foreign exchange exposure and consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2020, details of contingent liabilities are included in note 30
to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this Annual Report.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had no charges on the Group’s
assets.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 27 employees (including 6 Directors).
(31 March 2020: 45 employees (including 5 Directors)). The total
remuneration paid to employees, including Directors, for the Reporting
Period was approximately HK$10,120,000 (Previous Period: HK$16,942,000).
Remuneration is determined by reference to market terms and the
performance, qualification and experience of each individual employee.
Annual year-end double pay is paid based on each individual employee’s
performance as recognition of and reward for their contributions. Other
benefits accruing to the employees include contributions made to
statutory mandatory provident fund scheme and a group medical scheme.
We also subsidise our employees for pursuing further studies in related
fields.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in the “Prospect” section above, the Group had no
significant investments during the Reporting Period.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “2021
Annual General Meeting”) will be held on Monday, 2 August 2021 at 2
p.m. at Regus Conference Centre, 35/F.,, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2021 Annual General Meeting to be held on Monday, 2 August
2021, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 28 July 2021 to Monday, 2 August 2021, both dates inclusive.
During this period, no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In
order to qualify to attend and vote at the aforesaid meeting, all share
certificates with completed transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 27 July 2021.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
"Code’) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the Code Provisions set out in the Code throughout the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Period") except for
the deviations from Code Provisions A.1.8 and A.2.1 of the Code as
explained as follows:

Code Provision A.1.8

Code Provision A.1.8 stipulates that an issuer should arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its directors.

During the Reporting Period, the board (the “Board”) of Directors
considered that under the current situations of close management of the
Group and business scale, the possibility of actual litigation against the
Directors is very low. The Company will consider reviewing various
insurance cover proposals and will make such an arrangement as
appropriate.

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cai Dan, Mr. Wang Xiaogi and Mr. Ho
Yeung focus on evaluating new potential business and investment
opportunities and formulating and implementing business strategies to
enhance the revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new
chairman and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable
candidates have been identified for such purpose.
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COMPLIANCE OF CODE FOR DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiries with each of the Directors, all current
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors adopted by the Company throughout the Reporting Period.

EFFECTIVE AND EXPERIENCED BOARD
Board Composition

The Board comprises the following members during the Reporting Period
and at the date of this report:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi

Mr. Ho Yeung

Mr. Cai Dan (Appointed on 1 March 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Lau Chor Ki

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony

Mr. Wong Kin Kee
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Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to, among other matters, review
financial and operating performance and discuss the Group’s direction and
strategy.

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were held.

Details of the Directors’ attendance of the Board meetings during the
Reporting Period are as follows:
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Mr. Wang Xiaoq FEHLE 4/4 1/1

Mr. Ho Yeung ¥ A 4/4 /1
Mr. Cai Dan B

(Appointed on 1 March 2021) (R=ZZE_—F=F—HEZMT) —/- -/~

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE A 4/4 1/1

Mr. Lau Chor Ki WAt 25 S A 4/4 11

Mr. Wong Kin Kee EEASLAE 4/4 /1

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s overall strategy,
considering and approving financial statements, material contracts and
transactions as well as other significant policy and financial matters. The
Board delegates the day to day operation and administration functions to
the executive Directors and the management, while preserving the right to
finally approve key matters and strategic decisions. When the Board
delegates certain aspects of its management and administration functions
to the management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of the
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where the
management should report back and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Company. The Directors do not have any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other.
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The Board understands that they are responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management system, as well as monitoring and
review of the effectiveness of such system. The Board has delegated such
responsibility to the executive Directors and the management of the
Group, and the executive Directors and the management will report to the
Board any findings regarding the risk management systems of the Group.

The Board and the management have reviewed the Group’s financial,
operation, compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk
areas. During the Reporting Period, the Group has established a risk
management policy and risk reporting mechanism. Our risk management
policy covers various aspects including systematic risk identification and
assessment and risk response processes, and a comprehensive risk
monitoring and reporting mechanism.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and proposed agendas for all Board and committee meetings
are normally made available to Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors/committee members, to the extent
possible, at least 3 days before each Board or committee meeting to keep
Directors or committee members apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company enabling them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to senior management whenever necessary.

The secretary of the meeting is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for Directors' inspection.

According to the current practices of the Board, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests relating to a substantial shareholder,
Director or Directors, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting. The Company'’s articles of association also
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such substantial shareholder, Director or Directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

According to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general meeting,
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

According to Code Provision A4.1 of the Code, non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term of service, subject to re-election.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
17 March 2015. Mr. Wang presently does not have a fixed term of service
with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang is
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1
June 2017. Mr. Ho has entered into a service contract with the Company on
the day of his appointment and has renewed his service contract with the
June 2020.
His term of office is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in

Company for a term of another three years commencing on 1
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

Mr. Cai Dan was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1
March 2021. Mr. Cai presently does not have a fixed term of service with
the Company and will hold office until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company. The
remuneration of Mr. Cai is determined with reference to his qualifications,
experience and duties and responsibilities in the Group and prevailing
market conditions.

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 15 May 2014. Mr. Tse entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 17 May 2019. His term of office is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.
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Mr. Lau Chor Ki was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1 June 2017. Mr. Lau has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 1 June 2020. His term of office is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 3 April 2018. Mr. Wong has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 3 April 2021. His term of office is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the annual confirmation from each of the
current independent non-executive Directors as regards his independence
of the Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
considers that each of the current independent non-executive Directors is
independent of the Company.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) were appointed for a specific term but subject to the relevant
provisions of the articles of association or any other applicable laws on the
Directors’ removal or retirement. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and
Mr. Wong Kin Kee, the independent non-executive Directors, are appointed
until 16 May 2022, 31 May 2023 and 2 April 2024.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman and chief

executive officer should be separate.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiaogqji, Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr.
Cai Dan focus on evaluating new potential business and investment
opportunities and formulating a new business strategy to enhance the
revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new chairman
and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable candidates
have been identified for such purpose.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family or other
material and/or relevant relationship between each of the executive
Directors and other members of the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “"Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Group's audit
findings, accounting policies and standards, changes of accounting rules (if
any), compliance to the GEM Listing Rules, internal and audit control, and
cash flow forecast.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the Reporting Period, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

The Group's unaudited quarterly and half-yearly results and audited annual
results for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee which is of the view that such financial statements have been
prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting standards and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the internal control and
risk management mechanism of the Group to be operating effectively for
the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, four meetings of the Audit Committee were
held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit Committee
meetings are as follows:
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Audit Committee
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Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFEEE 4/4
Mr. Lau Chor Ki WA EE 4/4
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mREASAE 4/4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established in November 2005 and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference on 2 December 2013 in
accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
requirements set out under Code Provisions.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony,
Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year or on an as
needed basis. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the Directors
and the senior management and to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages and conditions of employment for the
executive Directors and the senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has performed
its duties to review the remuneration of Board members.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meeting are as follows:
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Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LA Il
Mr. Lau Chor Ki WiEE LA /1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mEELE /1
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The policies for the remuneration of the executive Directors and, if
appropriate, the independent non-executive Directors are:

—  to ensure that none of the Directors should determine their own
remuneration;

—  the remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
which the Company competes for human resources;

—  the Group should aim to attract and retain executives and to
motivate them to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst taking
into account individual performance; and

—  the remuneration should reflect the performance, complexity of
duties and responsibility of individuals.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “"Nomination
Committee’) was established in May 2011 and the Company had adopted
a revised specific written terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in
compliance with the Code Provision A.5.

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr.
Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to identify potential
candidates and to make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.5.6, the Board has adopted a board diversity
policy and the Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
achievement of the measurable objectives set out in the policy.

The Company recognises and seises the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board's composition, board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee ~ A¥REHARE - RLEE L RBIT—RGH - B4
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination ZE@KEHFFBWOT :
Committee are as follows:
Attendance/
Number of
Nomination
Committee
meetings held during
the Reporting Period
HERE
REREHERTZ
REEEE
=
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFEEE 1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki WEEE LA /1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mREASLAE 1
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS PEESEBEE

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices relevant to the model and growth of its business. In order to
achieve a right balance between governance and performance, the Board
is responsible for introducing and proposing relevant principles concerning
corporate governance so as to enhance the standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

The Board is primarily responsible for performing the following corporate
governance functions:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e)  to review the Group's compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the corporate governance functions reviewed and performed
by the Board during the Reporting Period are disclosed and explained in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and
relevant. To ensure the Directors’ contribution to the Board remain
informed and relevant, the Company will be responsible for arranging and
finding suitable training for Directors and providing for its funding.

The Company will provide a comprehensive package of induction materials
about the duties, responsibilities and liabilities as well as statutory and
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, an individual
training record of each Director is set out below:
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Attending or

participating in

courses/seminars/
conference/ Reading materials

workshops relating to rules
relevant to rules and and regulations
regulations and the and discharge of
Group's business/  directors’ duties and
directors’ duties responsibilities
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Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Xiaogi TERLE v /
Mr. Ho Yeung fAF & 4 v/
Mr. Cai Dan BT
(Appointed on 1 March 2021) (RZZE-—F=A—HEZMT) v v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIFEHTES
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony WFE A v 4
Mr. Lau Chor Ki Wi A v 4
Mr. Wong Kin Kee EEAELA v 4
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external service provider, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael ("Mr. Tung") as its company secretary. Although Mr. Tung is
accessible by all Directors and the senior management, Mr. Ho Yeung and
Mr. Wang Xiaogi, our executive Directors, are the principal persons with
whom Mr. Tung liaises with. For the Reporting Period, Mr. Tung has
received relevant professional training of not less than 15 hours to update
his skills and knowledge.

CHANGE IN AUDITOR IN PRECEDING 3 YEARS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14 April 2020 in
relation to the change of auditor, Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 14 April 2020. On
the same date, Prism CPA Limited (“Prism”) had been appointed as the
auditor of the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Reporting
Period were audited by Prism whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that Prism will be re-appointed as the auditor
of the Company subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s auditor, Prism, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
was as follow:
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Type of Services HK$’000
BRI FET
Audit services Bz RS 450
Non-audit services EEZ IR 100
Total st 550
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) with
effect from 1 January 2019. The Dividend Policy allows the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) to share the profits of the Company
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future growth.
According to the Dividend Policy, in addition to the final dividends, the
Company may declare interim dividends or special dividends from time to
time.

According to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall consider the following
factors before proposing and declaring dividends:

(i) the Group's general financial condition;
(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;
(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(iv)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

(vi)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

(vii)  the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(ix)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Laws of the Cayman Islands, the articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board and
there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board together with the management has developed the Group's
internal control, risk assessment and management systems. The Board has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining adequate and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of monitoring the Group's risk
management and internal control systems to the executive Directors and
the management, and the executive Directors and the management will
report to the Board any findings regarding the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group from time to time.

The Board reviews and evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at least
annually to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage and mitigate risks, rather than to eliminate risks, of failure to
achieve the business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. We have employed a bottom-up approach for identification,
assessment and mitigation of risk at all business unit levels and across
functional areas.

Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include the establishment of a risk management policy and a risk
reporting mechanism to keep track of and document identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the respective responsive procedures,
and the ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness.

The Board has taken into consideration factors including but not limited to
the followings when identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that
affect the achievements of the Group's objectives:

—  the nature and extent of the risks facing the Group;

—  the extent and categories of risks that the Board regards as
acceptable for the Group;

—  the likelihood of the risks materialising;
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—  the Group’s ability to reduce the incidence of risks and the impact
on its business when risks materialise; and

—  the costs of operating particular controls relative to the benefit
thereby obtained in managing the related risks.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Board captures and identifies
the key inherent risks that affect the achievement of its objectives by
performing the followings:

— understanding organisational objectives and business processes;

— determining the risk appetite and establishing the risk assessment
criteria;

— identifying the risks associated with achieving or not achieving the
objectives and assessing the likelihood and potential impact of
particular risks; and

—  monitoring and evaluating the risks and the arrangements in place
to address them.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems by considering factors including but not limited to the
followings:

—  the changes since the last annual review in the nature and extent of
significant risks, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

—  the scope and quality of management’s monitoring of risks and of
the system of internal control, and where applicable, the work of its
internal audit function and other third party consultants;

—  the extent and frequency of the communication of the results of the
monitoring to the Board or the Audit Committee which enables a
cumulative assessment on the state of control in the Group and the
effectiveness with which risk is being managed;
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— the incidence of significant control failings or weakness that has
been identified at any time during the period and the extent to
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material
impact on the Group's financial performance or condition; and

—  the effectiveness of the Group’s processes relating to financial
reporting and GEM Listing Rules compliance.

In view of the Group's business and scale of operations, and in order to
adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic reviews of
the Group's internal controls, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant, Roma Risk Advisory Limited (“Roma”), to execute the internal
audit function. Roma has conducted an internal control review of the
effectiveness of the Group's financial reporting procedures, systems and
control for the Reporting Period in accordance with the requirements
under Code Provision C.2 and the scope of review agreed and approved by
the Audit Committee.

Roma reported to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee was
satisfied that there had been no major deficiency noted in the areas of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems being reviewed
after implementation of the recommendations on the internal control
deficiency. The Audit Committee reviews annually the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated procedures and has
access to information necessary to fulfil its duties and responsibilities with
respect to risk assessment and risk management. Accordingly, the Audit
Committee and the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems to be effective and implemented with adequate resources
during the Reporting Period.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information being
maintained until consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information, which includes:

—  Designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

—  Designated persons and departments to determine further
escalation and disclosure as required; and

—  Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and respond
to external enquiries.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group to be operating effectively.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has followed up on those
recommendations made by the independent consultant as part of its
comprehensive review on the internal controls of the Group. As such, the
Group's internal supervision and risk prevention measures continue to
improve.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'’S
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period.

The auditor of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities
in the auditor’s report contained in this annual report for the Reporting
Period.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the re-appointment of the auditor of the Company.

REERBHAAREENEFRAIPER

REBEEHIEHEBERE - UBREBE RS

HBERTFIELEAREBE  EERIEGIM T

RAMEE — B REREREALL RERRERE

REMANREEE - HPEHE:

— BEAREBHREREMETHFIRRE
AEEARHEE

— HEARRBMEERER - SHRRE
B R

— EEEEEABRES ALEIEIMNBEER

EXeERZEERA  AEERR
BB R T B RUELE

I KA

RBEHHE - AARCREBLBERYANEEZ
M EbE ”Hﬁixﬁﬁ_ﬂiﬁﬁg oz o Bt
REE 2 NEPER N AR TR B IS ARE -

ESHEZBAM 2 ER

BEEEEAREZANTSE

HRREEEZREE

MR BT -

AR B ZBEDHERH AR é B AN F e
NZZBENHRE 2 2HRAT

EXeHEERZ B ZANER AR RZEAL
B -

FREFRAT
:%:*if‘i%% 33



Corporate Governance Report
RS
TEREAMS

SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, any
one or more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board and sufficient contact details to enable these
enquiries to be properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong at Room 1403, 14/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board.

Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting
forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the Board by written
requisition. Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, a
shareholder or shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures as
set out in the paragraph headed "How shareholders can convene an
extraordinary general meeting” above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/) and of
the Company (http://www.8050hk.com/).

There are no significant changes in the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association during the Reporting Period.
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PRINCIPLES

The Company is pleased to present its environmental, social and
governance report (the “Report’) for the year ended 31 March 2021, with
an aim to demonstrate its efforts on sustainability developments to both
internal and external stakeholders.

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 20 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The Report primarily highlights the Group’s major
initiatives and activities implemented from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021
(the “Year”) for the three environmental aspects and the eight social
aspects.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is committed to the long-
term sustainability of its business, as well as providing support to
environmental protection and the communities in which it operates.
Quiality products and services are delivered to customers, and their
business is managed prudently under sound decision-making processes.
Dialogue is maintained with stakeholders such as shareholders, customers,
employees, suppliers, creditors, regulators and the general public. The
Group seeks to balance the views and interests of these stakeholders
through constructive conversation with a view to setting the course for
long-term prosperity. The board of directors (the “Board”) is responsible
for evaluating and determining the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG’) risks of the Group, and ensuring that relevant risk management and
internal control systems are in place and operate effectively.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of system integration
services and other value-added technical consultation services and
hardware-related business. The Group has also expanded into the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") market in the areas of manufacturing of
ancillary high-tech software and hardware products; developing and
establishing integrated online platforms for the distribution of mobile
products and the provision of value-added services; and setting up joint
ventures with multinational companies to introduce and procure mobile
application services.

Excellent Master Investments Limited (“Excellent Master”) is principally
engaged in financing and provision of payroll and administrative services
for group companies in Hong Kong and has an office located in Hong
Kong (the "Hong Kong office").
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Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co,, Ltd. GEYI TR {Z48 %
R 7 A BR A 7] ) (‘CITIC Cyber Security’) is principally engaged in the
technical development and software development of credible identity
authentication services related products in the PRC. Guangzhou YBDS IT
Co, ltd. (B #E1H1E BB B R A &) (‘Guangzhou YBDS") and
Shenzhen YBDS IT Co, Ltd. GRIIIT #EE{E B RH AR A F]) (‘Shenzhen
YBDS") are telecommunications companies which construct unified
payment system and platform. All two subsidiaries are located at a
Shenzhen office (the “Shenzhen office").

Echo with the mission of developing digital economy raised by President
Xi Jingping, the Group is devoted to the establishment of a credible
network system. During the Year, CITIC Cyber Security, one of our
subsidiaries, was recognised by the Zhongguancun Anxin Network Identity
Authentication Industry Alliance (“OIDAA") as the “2020 OIDAA Alliance
Excellent Member Unit” and the “2020 OIDAA Alliance Special Contribution
Award" during the "New Era and New Infrastructure OIDAA 2020 Annual
Alliance Member Conference”.

This Report will focus on the environmental and social aspects of Hong
Kong office and Shenzhen office. For information about the Group’s
corporate governance structure and other relevant information, please
refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this Annual Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability of the
Group. The Group fully appreciates the needs to build both online and
offline communication channels and to provide stakeholders with timely
reports on strategic planning and performance of the Group in order to
establish a continuing communication mechanism with the stakeholders.
In addition, the Group consults the stakeholders on their recommendations
and propositions to ensure its business practices can meet the
expectations of the stakeholders.
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The stakeholders include the shareholders, government and regulatory
bodies, employees, customers, suppliers as well as the society and the
public. The Group discusses with the stakeholders through various
channels for their expectations and relevant feedback of the Group as

shown below:
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Stakeholder Communication Expectations

& BE e

Shareholders - Annual general meetings and other general Financial results

%5 meetings WIS
BEAFRg REMBRRERE Corporate transparency
Financial reports PEEHE

Government and regulatory bodies

BT b B E AR

Employees

B8

Customers
®P

Suppliers
HER

Society and the public
HRRAR

MRS
Announcements and circulars
NEREK

Regular reporting

7E HATE

Written or electronic communication
NEEXEFHER

Public consultation

NS

Trainings and seminars
B R E
Regular performance appraisal

EHIR RS

Customer services hotline and email
BPRBALERER
Company website

PNSIEENS

Supplier performance assessment
HEE R
Teleconference

il
B

Community investment
HERERE

ESG reports

RE  HERELRRE

Sound risk management and internal
control

TTE R E IR R AR R
Corporate sustainability

DEAFEER

Compliance operation
BREE

Continuous communication
HEBR

Beneficial cooperation

R SEeN(E

Career development

BEER

Competitive remuneration and benefits
BRSO H M EAER

Equal opportunity

FEHE

Healthy and safe working environment
RERZE TERA

Customer rights and interests protection
RIZHE P RN & F 5

Customer privacy protection
REZEPLE

High quality products and services

BEEm MRS

Responsible supply chain management
BEMHEREE

Business ethics and credibility
ARERRER

Fair bidding

NFRIZ

Supplier privacy protection

RIEEHIERALR

Environmental protection
BRI
Employment opportunities provision

RftpEKE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Year, the Group undertook its annual materiality assessment
exercise. This involved conducting interviews and surveys with internal and
external stakeholders to identify the most significant operating,
environmental and social impacts towards its business. The management
and employees who are responsible for the key functions of the Group
have participated in preparing the Report, and have assisted the Group in
reviewing its operations, identifying key ESG issues and assessing the
importance of these issues to its businesses and stakeholders. The material
ESG topics will be covered in the Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions

The Group has introduced environmental protection awareness into its
day-to-day operations. Employees are encouraged to minimise the energy
consumption and paper wastage. Various sustainable development
measures have been adopted to address environmental responsibilities,
including (i) the establishment of general guidelines for efficient use of
resources; (ii) daily cost-saving proposals such as the prior use of recycle
papers for printing and setting double-side printing as default setting to
reduce the use of paper; (i) paperless office initiatives to reduce paper
usage; and (iv) promotion on switching off the lights after the use of a
room to reduce electricity usage. The Group is committed to continuously
improving the ways these initiatives are being promoted. In addition, the
Group has encouraged green office concept and promoted the 3R
concept, i.e. Reduce, Reuse and Recycle. It has actively reminded its
employees the prevention of environmental pollution and encouraged
waste reduction.

During the Year, the major sources of GHG emissions included purchased
electricity (Scope 2) and paper waste disposal (Scope 3). Total GHG
emissions compared to that in 2020 has decreased by 24.97%.

There was no hazardous waste produced from the operations of Hong
Kong office and Shenzhen office. The Group’s major non-hazardous waste
produced from the operations of these two offices was office paper.

As the Group does not consume a significant volume of water in its
business activities, our operation did not generate material discharges into
water during the Year. Moreover, the amount of water consumption of the
Group represents the sewage discharge volume. The data on water
consumption and corresponding water conservation measures will be
described in the section headed “Use of Resources”.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group's emissions in
the Year are shown in the table below:

Exhaust Gas Emissions

Since the Group does not own any vehicles or facilities that involve fossil
fuels combustion, no exhaust gas emissions (including nitrogen oxides,
sulphur oxides and particulate matter) are generated.
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GHG Emissions BEREHEN
Indicator Unit 2021 2020
18 B —g=-F  -B=-%%
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) (Note 1) Kilogram of carbon dioxide N/A N/A
equivalent ("Kg CO,e")
BEEAERBYMNE (S8R 1) (M) RT—E(cES T3 A TE A
(A= ttEE&])
Energy indirect emissions from electricity Kg COe 23,721.01 31,304.29
consumption (Scope 2)
REMESNREZENE (HE2) RT—SE(cES
Other indirect emissions from water consumption and Kg COe 37046 806.35
disposal of paper waste at landfills (Scope 3) (Note 2)
FAKEREEREEFERNHEMHEESNE (BE3) AT_S(HRES
(Kt 2)
Total GHG emissions Kg COe 24,091.47 32,110.64
BRERBHNEE RT S| ES
Intensity of GHG emissions per square Kg CO,e/square meter (‘m?’) 1322 17.72

meter of floor area (Note 3)

BYEFAEEEENEEREFNERE (Mit3) R —&feikgE Tk
(T #FHK])

Note1:  Since the Group does not own any vehicles or facilities that involve fossil fuels — Afa# 7 48R NSk B30 £ 5 (1A /R B SR IGE (L R R B RO RR A -
combustion, no direct GHG emission is generated. WA EESHZBREREHEN

Note2:  As the water supply and drainage facilities of our offices in PRC and Hong Kong are  ffa#2 : BR IR R B REE R EE O HKRBEKEE TR
managed by the property management company, the Group did not have water MEERDNAERE  WAKEFANLEBRFEKRE -
consumption record during the Year, hence other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions F it F g E b5 (FE3) B ERELERERE ER
during the Year was only sourced from paper waste disposal. BB

Note3:  As at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, total floor area of offices included in the — ff7#3 - EA T —F=RA=t+—HERZZZZF=A=+—
reporting scope were 1,822.00 m? and 1,812.44 m? respectively. These data are used CEFAREEEANN N EREEMmAED R A1,822.00
for other intensity calculation as well. :FE/JF&W 81244 K - ERABBINAEAEEME

g o

Wastes BEEY

Indicator Unit 2021 2020

BE B —E-—F —EBEF

Hazardous wastes produced in total (Note 1) kg N/A N/A

FEXBEREEMESE (fit1) N NEA NEA

Intensity of hazardous wastes produced per kg/m? N/A N/A

square meter of floor area

BYAAEEHAREENESEENTE NI PN A NEA

Non-hazardous wastes produced in total (Note 2) kg 77.18 120.80

FRE+BREREEYES (FiT2) N

Intensity of non-hazardous wastes kg/m? 0.04 0.07

BERENTE NI P

Note 1:  The Group does not generate hazardous wastes including chemical wastes, clinical ~ #&F 1 AEBEHEEBRTR W BEEEAETHEEY - 8FE L
wastes and hazardous chemicals in its operations. BEY - BEEYREE(CEDE -

Note2:  This figure represents the major non-hazardous waste produced by the Group, which ~ H#fat2 - ZBIBEARBELEN T EREEZY —PAEMAR
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Relevant laws and
regulations include but are not limited to Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Water Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the People’s Republic of China and Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China as well as Air
Pollution Control Ordinance and Water Pollution Control Ordinance of
Hong Kong. In addition, no fine or non-monetary sanction for non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations had been reported in the
Year.

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business activities on
the environment. A number of initiative measures designed to conserve
resources have been introduced to promote employees’ awareness of the
need for resources conservation and achieving efficient utilisation of
resources.

As mentioned in the above “Emissions” section, the Group has several
policies to minimise the electricity consumed by the employees. The
Group has required its employees to switch off the equipment, including
air-conditioners, computers, printers, photocopiers and lights when they
finish work. Air conditioners are set for indoor temperature between 24 to
26 degrees Celsius in summer, with an aim to reduce electricity usage. In
addition, the Group has encouraged the installation of compact fluorescent
light-bulbs, T5 fluorescent lamps and light emitting diode (“LED"). Water
efficiency initiatives have also been promoted as the Group has reminded
its employees to check the water supply equipment, keep the water tap off
when not in use and arrange for immediate repairs in case of leakage or
other damages. With such measures adopted, employees’ awareness on
energy and water conservation has been enhanced.

During the Year, the Group consumed electricity at offices as its only
energy source.

As the Group's business operation does not involve production process, no
packaging material is consumed by the Group.

Due to the geographical location of the Group's offices, the Group does
not encounter any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

REAR > AEBY TABEMERERBEAZER
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ERBEBRRVMNARIEIRIBEARENE
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Relevant consumptions from operation EEEAMNERERE

Indicator Unit 2021 2020

B B —E-—F —E-BFE

Electricity consumption in total kWh 31,446.00 37,981.15

BRER FHE

Intensity of electricity consumption kWh/m? 17.26 20.96
EERE TEE,F77K

Water consumption in total (Note 1) Cubic metre ("'m?”) N/A 363.00

BAKE (Hat1) ALK A jE

Intensity of water consumption m3*/m? N/A 0.20

RXERE SR FERAK A3 A

Note I:  As the water supply and drainage facilities of our offices in PRC and Hong Kong are Kzt

AR AL A B R 8 B i 2 B RO (K RBE KR

managed by the property management company, the Group did not have water
consumption record during the Year.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Despite that there is no significant impact on the environment and natural
resources from the operations, the Group is dedicated to providing
employees a comfortable and green working environment by cleaning the
air-conditioning system including air filters and air ducts regularly and
selecting products with low or zero in volatile organic compounds emitted.
Also, the Group encourages all employees to participate in different kinds
of recycling activities to minimise the use of natural resources.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment
Recruitment

The Group has established a comprehensive human resources
management system which requires the employment of employees based
on their experience, qualifications, and knowledge during the recruitment
process. To ensure that the rights and interests of employees are well
protected, employment contracts must be discussed and agreed with
prospective employees regarding salaries, benefits, annual leaves and other
employment related issue, prior to signing by the employees.

Promotion, Compensation, and Dismissal

Appraisals are regularly performed to consider promotions and salary
increments based on the results of the employees’ performance reviews.
Dismissals of employees have been performed in compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) of Hong Kong and Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China. The relevant provisions on termination of
the employment are set out in the employment contract of every staff.

Working Hours, Rest Periods, and Benefits

Both Hong Kong and Shenzhen offices are operated under a five-day work
week arrangement with statutory leaves provided such as annual leaves,
sick leaves, maternity leaves, in order to allow employees to have adequate
rest periods. The Group has also provided medical allowance, MPF schemes
(for Hong Kong employees only) and other benefits to employees. For
employees in Mainland China, the Group will pay for their “five social
insurance and one housing fund” including endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, employment injury insurance,
maternity insurance and Housing Provident Fund pursuant to the law in
order to safeguard the benefits of social insurance of employees.

Equal Opportunities, Diversity, and Anti-discrimination

The Group's human resources policy states and their management ensures
that no discrimination exists within the Group in terms of age, sex, marital
status, family status, sexuality, disability, nationality or religion, etc. Any
form of discrimination is prohibited during any of their decision-making
processes, including normal operations and any recruitment process.
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. Relevant laws and
regulations include but are not limited to Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Labour Contract Law of the People's Republic of China
as well as Employment Ordinance and Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance of Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 27 employees (including 6 Directors),
of which 26 of them were full-time employees and 1 of them was part-time
employee. The distribution of workforce classified by different categories is
as follows:

By gender
b qezlE-lby

Female ZZ 1%
41%

By age group
RERED
Over 50 Under 30
years old years old
50B%bA 30BRATT
11% 22%

30-50
years old

30BR 2 508%
67%
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During the Year, the Group’s employee turnover rate is as follow:

RER - XEBEWREERKFWT -

Turnover rate (%)

K E (%)
By gender R E D
Male St 45%
Female pegis 16%
By age RERE D
Under 30 years old LR308B% 50%
30-50 years old 30E 5075% 34%
Over 50 years old FBIB S0 5% -
By location & it & &l 5
PRC i 41%
Hong Kong BE -
Health and Safety REHEZE

The Group places great importance on its people-oriented principles and
employees’ health and safety, such as providing employees with masks
during haze in the PRC, installing air purifiers at offices, providing medicines
for employees in case of sickness, etc.

To address the wellbeing of employees working in their offices, the Group
has established a set of health and safety management practices to
enhance their safety management and promote employee safety
awareness and, established safety measures, for example, they will regularly
send emails and relevant materials to employees to advocate the
importance of a safe working environment.

Under the recent Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") pandemic, the
Group remains highly vigilant to the potential impact on the health and
safety of our employees. Apart from strengthening the sanitation in the
office area, the Group has provided surgical masks, disinfectant, and
alcohol wipes. Besides, the Group implemented precautionary measures
such as temperature screening before entering the office, and constantly
update relevant policies to keep in line with the government’s guidelines.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards. Relevant laws and regulations
include but are not limited to Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases and Provisions on the
Supervision and Administration of Occupational Health at Work Sites as
well as Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong. No work-
related fatalities and no loss days due to work injury were noted.
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Development and Training

The Group cares about employees’ development and encourages them to
participate in continuous learning through their career. The Group has its
tailor-made [T-related examination system for internal employees of most
of the departments. Apart from this, it has also provided training courses to
employees or subsidised them in joining external training courses
organised by professional bodies. On the other hand, learning experiences
will also be provided to employees through job allocation, improvements
in soft skills will also benefit employees in their career development in the

RN

AEELBREEZER  BSBEESRIERT
BTS2 E - NEE SRR AR IE B T I BB %AE
R ZHFRMR o WIN - REE A E S R HE
RIEHEHRFLMEXZRBRPNINEDEIIR
Bem—TTHE BRENAEBBTFALRESS
B BATURENEIREERENEE
R -

long run.
During the Year, 10 of our employees received a total of 95 hours of  AER » HKFIEF 108 B TET S o5/ iz -
training, which breakdown is as follows: HAR4uT -
Average
Percentage of training hours
employees completed
trained (%) (hours)
BEZEIM T2 T
ETEHZL (%) BINFHCNE)
Overall 2 26% 244
By gender BRI D
Male S 23% 1.73
Female i 31% 385
By employee category REIERE S
Executive directors WITES 100% 6.67
Management EEE 66% 7.22
General staff —MET 4% 037
Labour Standards % T AR

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the Group.
During the Year, the Group has strictly complied with all respective laws
and regulations regarding the employment of child labour and forced
labour. Further, clauses regarding the prevention of child labour and forced
labour were included in the Employee Handbook and human resources
policies.

The minimum requirement for newly recruited middle-level and senior-
level employees of the Group are graduates from universities. Background
checks and reference checks of potential new employees were also
performed during the recruitment process. Relevant details regarding
treatment of employee violation were also included in the Employee
Handbook and human resources policies.
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to preventing child and forced labour. Relevant laws and
regulations include but are not limited to Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Employment Contracts as well as Employment Ordinance and Employment
of Children Regulations of Hong Kong. In addition, there was no fine or
non-monetary sanction for non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations had been reported in the Year.

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

During the operations, the Group encourages its suppliers and business
partners to uphold high moral standards that are in line with the Group,
and has imposed strict requirements (both environmental and social
requirements) on its suppliers and business partners. Its partners are all
worldwide reputable companies and known for their ethical standards. In
selecting and evaluating its suppliers and business partners, their attitudes
towards environmental and social issues, including human rights, equal
opportunities were also considered. During the Year, there were a total of
10 suppliers and all of them were located in the PRC.

Environmental and Social Risks Management

The Group requires environmentally friendly practices on its suppliers and
business partners. For example, it required its business partners to be
certified with the 1SO14001 or GB/T24001 or other related environmental
management system certifications. During the supplier and business
partner selection processes, it considers environmental protection as one
of the key assessment criteria and expects the potential impact on the
environment to be minimised during normal operations by its suppliers
and business partners. The Group has also set up health and safety
requirements for its suppliers and business partners, for example, business
partners have to be certified with OHSAS18001 or GB/T28001 or other
related occupational health and safety management system certifications.

Product Responsibility

The Group has continuously paid considerable attention to brand effect
and product quality. Besides setting high requirements for its suppliers and
business partners during its selection phases, the Group has also
emphasised product quality improvements, provided after-sales services to
its customers, and has continuously worked closely with its customers and
business partners to solve problems.
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Quality Management

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects are utmost
important for sustainable development of the Group. In order to ensure
that the Group delivers high quality services and sustainable projects to its
customers, the process of the projects is controlled and monitored
regularly. Process control procedures has also been established to ensure
that the deliverables meet the customers’ specifications and satisfactory
standards.

During the Year, no recalls of products had taken place. Besides, no
complaints related to product and service were received, nor any litigation
was laid against the Group. Any incidents (mostly technical problems) were
resolved immediately once occurred.

Privacy and Intellectual Property Protection

As a responsible service provider, all confidential data related to the
Group's business, financial and customer information are securely
protected and only used for internal purpose. Besides, confidentiality
agreements must be signed between the Group and its suppliers and
business partners to protect customers’ data and privacy. Employees are
trained to maintain the confidentiality of customers’ information.

Regarding the Group's trademarks, terms in relation to such intellectual
property rights are included in the cooperation agreements between the
Group and its suppliers and business partners. The Group recognises the
importance of intellectual property protection, therefore it is dedicated to
protecting and enforcing the Group's own IP rights as well as the IP rights
of third party.

Advertising and Labelling

As a company principally engaged in the provision of system integration
services and other value-added technical consultation services and
hardware-related business, the Group does not have any significant issues
on advertising and labelling. Nevertheless, in the Group’s dealings with its
clients, information provided should be complete, true, accurate, clear, and
comply with all relevant laws and regulations regarding the proper
advertising.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
Relevant laws and regulations include but are not limited to Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of
China, Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China as well as Trade
Marks Ordinance and Trade Descriptions Ordinance of Hong Kong. In
addition, there was no fine or non-monetary sanction for non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations had been reported in the Year.
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Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to prohibiting any form of corruption such as
bribery, money laundering, extortion, and fraud. The Group believes that its
employees, suppliers, and business partners have maintained a strong
ethical conduct during regular business.

Corporate Governance

The Group realizes the importance of internal control to a zero-corruption
company culture. Information on preventing conflict of interest is included
in the Employee Handbook of the Group and was distributed to all
employees to follow. Besides, during every tendering process, an Integrity
Agreement must be signed by both the Group and the suppliers or
business partners. The Group has ensured that all relevant parties will act in
accordance with its requirements on anti-corruption in order to prevent
any bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering during the operation.

As stated in the Employee Handbook, employees should not have a
financial or other personal interest in a transaction between the Group and
any of its business units and a vendor, supplier, provider or customer in
order to avoid conflict of interest. Employees are required to declare
situation which may present a conflict of interest to their supervisors and
the Board will be notified.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. Relevant laws
and regulations include but are not limited to Law of the People’s Republic
of China Against Unfair Competition as well as Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of Hong Kong. No concluded legal case regarding corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering was noted.

Community Investment

The Group values community contributions and always seeks to be a
positive force in the communities in which it operates and maintains close
communications and interactions with the communities in order to
contribute to local development from time to time. In addition, the Group
also focuses to inspire our employees towards social welfare awareness.
Employees are encouraged to participate in volunteer works aiming to
help and support the local communities and neighbours.
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

BaXZRARABNCRRE
RERMEES)ABRSIX

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs ~ Description Section/Declaration
TEHE - BE —REER E5,/ B0
HRERES
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT : kY
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to Exhaust Gas and GHG emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
—fR BHRBERLAZEREBHER MKk  BEELESHEEDMNE  HHRY
&
) BE R

KPI' A1.1 (comply or explain)

BRERIERAL
(NETRLARRE)

KPI' A1.2 (comply or explain)
BREBIER A2
(ME-TotiER)

KPI' A1.3 (comply or explain)

BRERIEEA
($L?%%%)

KPI A1.4 (comply or explain)
BIRERUERE A4
(TETHRE)
KPI'A1.5 (comply or explain)
BB EBIRIRALS
(TETHRE)

KPI' A1.6 (comply or explain)

BRE IR A
($h?%%#)

b) BTHETABEATENEREIRZLROINES -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

B ERE R ARR B R EUR -

GHG emissions in total (in tonnes) and intensity.

/uniﬂﬁfi%lmzﬁyi(l’/( ﬁuﬂ‘;ét) &%g

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity.

FRELAEREYRE NEFE) REE

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity.

FRELBEREYRE UEFE) REE

Description of reduction initiatives and results achieved.

TR RSB R M PTSACR o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
reduction initiatives and results achieved.

HlEEAEREZERNNT L  REELENREHERAERR -
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Emissions — Exhaust Gas
Emissions, GHG Emissions,
Wastes

BB — R AE
RESHER BEEY
Emissions — GHG Emissions

By —RERBEN

Emissions — Wastes (Not
applicable — explained)
B — B (TER
—BERE)

Emissions — Wastes

B — BEEY

Emissions

Bey)

Emissions

790/ ¢%)



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRE e kER

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPls

IRER BE —REER

BRENER

B¥RE

Description

i

Section/Declaration

01

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EBHEA2: EREHR

General Disclosure

—MRIRE

KPI'A2.1 (comply or explain)
RERUER A2

(T E-TotiERE)

KPI' A2.2 (comply or explain)
RERIERA22
(REFRERR)

KPI' A2.3 (comply or explain)
FRAMIERA23

(T E-TotiERE)

KPI' A2.4 (comply or explain)

REIERA24
(TETHRE)
KPI'A2.5 (comply or explain)

RSB RUERR A2S5
(T EToifER)

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.

BMERER(BIEER  KREMRME) WBE o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity.

BZ*EH’UEJ E”]ET’L&/&FﬁE \:!%%E&?r

Water consumption in total and intensity.

REKEREE

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

RS R Bt B TSR -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
$idSKEGE AR LR B AR - AR K 5 8 R SA R
Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and with
reference to per unit produced.

AR mAAREMKMNAE VAN E) RBEEEUINE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 : BERXRER

General Disclosure

—MEE
KPI'A3.1 (comply or explain)

R IEIZ A3
(TETHER)

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.

BEETAHRBEIARAERERERNTENBER -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HAERBEHHRREIRAERNEAYERERNEREBTENT
o

Use of Resources

BREM

Use of Resources

BREA

Use of Resources

BEREM

Use of Resources

BREA

Use of Resources

BREM

Use of Resources (Not
applicable — explained)
BREA(TER —
EE)

The Environment and
Natural Resources
RERRARER
The Environment and
Natural Resources

BRERRRER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - g kERmE

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosuresand KPIs ~ Description

Section/Declaration

TEHE - BE —REER =10y L
HRANES
Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1 : EE
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
—MRIKEE BAFM ke BERES THERE BRE TE5He 2ot EE
&ﬁﬁu&ﬂ@ﬁ@&%ﬂ%=
) B &
b) BFHETABERZENHBERLROINER -
KPIB1.1 (recommended disclosure) Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical ~ Employment
region.
MRERIEREL RERE) RUM - ERER  FRARHESSNES A - B
KPIB1.2 (recommended disclosure) Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment
MRENIERe2(BERE) RIUA - FRERN RS DHESRKALE EMR
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: REHZE
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
—MRIKEE ﬁ%%#?ilﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁ¥ﬁﬁ%wr fERRZE
) BK &
b) BTFHETABEATZENHBERLROINER -
KPIB2.1 (recommended disclosure) Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
MRENIEER (BB RE) RIEBERMETHARRLE - RREZE
KPI B2.2 (recommended disclosure) Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
MREMIER2(2RRE) RHAIBEXRI(EHZC- fERRTE
KPI B2.3 (recommended disclosure) Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are  Health and Safety
implemented and monitored.
RREMIERIEARE) HIMRANBERREZ 2R - URBERTRERTE - RREZE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IREE - @ NEIAWRE

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosuresand KPIs ~ Description
TEHE - BE —REER
HRERES

Section/Declaration

01

Aspect B3: Development and Training
EEB3 : BEREI
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at
work. Description of training activities.

BHRTHE S BT TIERE A MR IR « HEINEE -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).

—MRIKE

KPIB3.1 (recommended disclosure)

MRERIEER (BERE) RUNREEEMN(WRRERE HREEES)ASNXIEER
g

KPI B3.2 (recommended disclosure) The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

MRENIEEE32 (BERE) RUMKESRFES  SRESTRRINN TR -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEB4 : BT 28|
General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
ﬁﬁ%igliﬁﬂ STH)
) BK &
b) BTFHETABEARTENHBERLROINER -

—RIE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EEB5 : HEEEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
—MRIKEE ERHERENRERMERBBE -

KPI B5.1 (recommended disclosure) Number of suppliers by geographical region.

BRtEAUEIRes (BERE) tEISMEERHKAE -

Development and Training

BRRE

Development and Training
R KIE
Development and Training

BRRE

Labour Standards

Supply Chain Management
e
Supply Chain Management
HERER

ETRHEBRAR
—E - R

-
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - g kERmE

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs ~ Description Section/Declaration
TESER  BE —REER E5,/ B0
HRERES

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EEB6 : EmEAE
General Disclosure Information on: Product Responsibility
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods of

redress.
—MEE BRMREERNRENERRELZ2  BS  EERLESEURGEN ERET
FER
) B R

BTHETABREARENRRERRAGINER -

KPI B6.1 (recommended disclosure) Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and ~ Product Responsibility —

health reasons. Quality management
BRENIERB (BERE) CEICEXERBHTERZERFEEAMALKNADLL EmBEE—EEER
KPI B6.2 (recommended disclosure) Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are  Product Responsibility —
dealt with. Quality management
FREMIERB GRARE) REMRERNMRENRFEHEALEYETE - EREE—EE2ER
KPI B6.3 (recommended disclosure) Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual ~ Product Respon5|b|||ty —
property rights. Privacy and intellectual
property protection
BRENIERBI(RERE) HOREERREANAEREHNED - EmafE—RELEK
HRERE
KPIB6.5 (recommended disclosure) Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are  Product Responsibility —
implemented and monitored. Privacy and intellectual
property protection
MRENIERBeS (BARE) HWUHBEERRERLBER - URABRTREERE - EmAELE —RELEK
B EE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R g hERWE

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
TESGR  BEH —REER
HRERES

Description

i

Section/Declaration

01

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7: RES

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI'B7.1 (recommended disclosure)

FRERIEIEE7 GRARE)

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
ﬁf‘aﬁ[‘)‘iiﬂﬁﬁ% CBR - BEFROARER
) BOR R

b) BTFHETABEARTENHBERLROINER -
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of
the cases.
Fﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁmﬁﬁéﬁ/@iﬁiﬁ%%ﬁﬁa%ﬁ% SAHRARRENEE KF
I\D%

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EHEBS : HERE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

BRI ELERTREENMEHERZENRREERIDHGERLE
FE BB

Anti-corruption

k&S
Anti-corruption

RE)S

Community Investment

HREE



Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

SEREREREL RE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi ( EBEE 54 ) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 42, was appointed
as an executive Director on 17 March 2015 and was re-elected on 3 August
2015, 1 August 2017 and 30 July 2018 respectively, and a director of nine
subsidiaries within the Group. He has been a business manager of
Guangzhou YBDS IT Co, Ltd* ( BN B B E E R B R 2 7)), an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since May 2014. He
has over 15 years of working experience in the telecommunications
industry in China. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang was the deputy
general manager of Hua Strong Network Science and Technology Limited
Company* ( Z X 4 4% B 2 B R 2 7 ) and Beijing Huagin World
Technology Limited Company* (At REEE) KB BR A F]), both of
which are indirect subsidiary of the Company, from 2000 to 2014. Mr. Wang
resigned from both companies in April 2014. He obtained a bachelor
degree from Beijing University of Technology ( 4t = T % K £ )in
Computer Controls and Applications. As at the date of this report, Mr.
Wang is interested in 382,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 0.028% of the total number of ordinary shares
in issue of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not have
any interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of Laws of Hong Kong) ("SFO"). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does
not hold any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
does not hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang is not connected with
any Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

SEREREEELRE

Mr. Ho Yeung ({3 5t &£ ) (“Mr. Ho"), aged 65, was appointed as an
executive Director on 1 June 2017 and was re-elected on 3 August 2017
and 5 September 2020. Since 1999, Mr. Ho has been a senior executive at a
leading high-tech software company in China and has held the post of
executive director of a renowned real estate company in China for more
than ten years. Since 1994, Mr. Ho has been on the board of members of
the council at the China Association for the Promotion of Investment. Mr.
Ho was an independent non-executive director of China Gas Holdings
Limited (stock code: 384), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), from 12 December 2012 to
27 November 2017. As at the date of this report, Mr. Ho is interested in
18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately
1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares in issue of the Company.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not have any interest in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not hold any other position in
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship
in any public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Ho is not connected with any Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Cai Dan (/%) (“Mr. Cai”), aged 43, has been the chief technology
officer and a director of Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co,,
Ld* ORINT R IEM L REFZ AR A A ('CITIC Cyber Security”), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, since October 2017
and January 2021 respectively. He is responsible for technical research and
development as well as project implementation and management. Prior to
joining CITIC Cyber Security, Mr. Cai was the chief technology officer of
AccessPort Inc* ( B 2N ACCESSPORT #k =\ & L ) ("AccessPort’) from
October 2000 to September 2017. He was one of the founding members of
AccessPort and was responsible for technical research and development as
well as project implementation and management. Mr. Cai obtained a
bachelor degree in Engineering (major in computer science and
technology) from Zhejiang University GHTAEE) in June 1999. As at the
date of this report, Mr. Cai is interested in 682,000 ordinary shares of the
Company, representing approximately 0.05% of the total number of
ordinary shares in issue of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cai
does not have any interest in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Cai does not hold any other position in the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cai is not
connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

SEREREREL RE

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (# F ¥ £ &) (“Mr. Tse”), aged 51, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 May 2014, and
was re-elected on 23 June 2014, 1 August 2017 and 5 September 2019
respectively. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree with honors in Finance
and Accounting from University of Salford, the United Kingdom and a
degree in Executive Master of Business Administration from Richard Ivey
School of Business, The University of Western Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tse is a
member of each of lllinois Certified Public Accountants Society, American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Institute of Accountants Exchange,
Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and Hong Kong Securities
Professionals Association. Mr. Tse is also an associate member of The
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants of the United Kingdom
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse has over
20 years of experience in corporate finance and accounting and has
worked for several international accounting firms, investment banks and
The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited. Mr. Tse is currently a managing
director of corporate finance department in Essence Corporate Finance
(Hong Kong) Limited and acts as its principal under the sponsor regime.
Mr. Tse was a non- executive director of China Oil Gangran Energy Group
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Fairson Holdings Limited) (Stock
Code: 8132) from 10 January 2014 to 30 April 2015. Mr. Tse was also a non-
executive director of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8147) from 6 October 2014 to 17 July 2017. Mr. Tse is a responsible
officer licensed under the SFO to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities) and
Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities. Mr. Tse does not
have any interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse does not hold any other
position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any
directorship in any public companies the securities of which are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save
as disclosed above, Mr. Tse is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

SEREREEELRE

Mr. Lau Chor Ki (#1355 4) (“Mr. Lau”), aged 68, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 1 June 2017, and was re-
elected on 3 August 2017 and 30 July 2018. Mr. Lau holds a diploma in
Management from Hong Kong Polytechnic (awarded jointly by the Hong
Kong Management Association), a certificate programme on writing
precisely what you mean from the Hong Kong Management Association, a
certificate of Practice in Chinese Property Laws — a distance learning
certificate programme from the Hong Kong Management Association. Mr.
Lau joined in Hang Seng Bank group (stock code: 00011) and had served in
the group for 40 years from 1973 to 2013. During this period, Mr. Lau
worked in various departments including retail banking, loans department,
credit control and administration. Also, he was a department head
monitoring the central cash of the bank when retired in May 2013. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Lau does not hold any other position in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Lau is not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau does not
have any interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (ZEZE %£ %) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 68, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 3 April 2018, and
was re-elected on 30 July 2018. Mr. Wong graduated from Columbia Radio
Institute (BT #RLL 25 48 T T 12 242 ) majoring in radio engineering in
1978. Mr. Wong has been working for Mitsubishi Electric Hong Kong Group
ldd. ( = Z F B # B B 2 A& ) (formerly known as Ryoden Flectric
Engineering Co, Ltd (8 T2 F R 22 7] )) from 1970 to 2010. He has
been responsible for the company’s China business since 1983. He was the
key responsible person for its subsidiary established in China, his last
position was a supervisor of the executive department and was mainly
responsible for its elevator business. Mr. Wong is currently a director of
Jinxiong Plastic Industry Co,, Ltd* (#8# (¥2B) T B2 5l )and an
executive director of Shenzhen Sanli Mechanical and Electrical Equipment
Engineering Co, Ltd* CRIITT =ML EBEFRE TIEBR A F]), both are
agents for electrical products of Changzhou Sanli Electrics Company* (&
N = FIE 222 F]) . Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong does not hold
any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not
hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Wong does not have any interests in the
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors
EEWES

The directors (the “Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the
“Company’) submit herewith the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting
Period").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

During the Reporting Period, the Group focused to strengthen its business
development in the areas of trading of high-tech software and hardware
equipment; developing and establishing payment platforms to provide
mobile payment services and value-added services; and setting up joint
ventures with multinational companies to introduce and procure mobile
application services, among others. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group's principal activities during the Reporting Period.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and operating segments for the
Reporting Period is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a discussion
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 7 to 16 of this
annual report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 81.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 69. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options are set out in
notes 29 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 84 and note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company's reserve
available for distribution to shareholders (comprising share premium)
amounted to approximately HK$101,852,000.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

To the best knowledge of the Group, employees, customers and business
partners are the key to continuous sustainable development. We commit
to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with employees, and
work together with our business partners to provide high quality products
and services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and
contribution to the society.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group paid close attention to environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and to
undertake relative social responsibility.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAW AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the board (the “Board”) of Directors and management are aware,
the Group has complied with all related laws and regulations in all material
aspects which may have significant impact on the operation of the Group.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the Reporting Period.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted on 1 August 2011 by the shareholders
of the Company under which the executive Directors may, at their
discretion, grant options to themselves and any employees of the Group
entitling them to subscribe for shares representing up to a maximum of 10
per cent of the shares in the Company in issue from time to time. The
purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to participants as incentives and rewards for their contribution to
the Company or its subsidiaries.

No options were granted under the share option scheme since its adoption
by the Company or outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or exercised at any time
during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi
Mr. Ho Yeung
Mr. Cai Dan (Appointed on 1 March 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
Mr. Lau Chor Ki
Mr. Wong Kin Kee

Pursuant to Articles 84 (1) of the articles of association of the Company, Mr.
Tse Yee Hin, Tony and Mr. Wong Kin Kee shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 83 of the articles of association of the Company, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill casual vacancy or as an addition to
the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Mr. Cai Dan was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1
March 2021, therefore Mr. Cai shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY'S SUBSIDIARIES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, Mr. Wang
Xiaoqi is also a director of the Company’s subsidiaries. The other director of
the Company’s subsidiaries during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this report was Mr. Li Kwan Shing.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, the Company has entered into a letter of
appointment with each of the current independent non-executive
Directors, namely, (a) Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony for a term of three years
commencing from 17 May 2019, (b) Mr. Lau Chor Ki for a term of three
years commencing from 1 June 2020, (c) Mr. Wong Kin Kee for a term of
three years commencing from 3 April 2021, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company'’s articles of
association.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang Xiaogi will be
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2020, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company'’s articles of
association.

Mr. Cai Dan presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Cai Dan will be
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 56 to 59.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company (the ‘Remuneration Committee”) with reference to their
relevant qualifications, experience and duties and responsibilities in the
Group and prevailing market conditions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in November 2005 and the
Company had adopted a revised specific terms of reference on 2
December 2013 in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the requirements set out under Code Provisions.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr.
Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which any of the
Company's holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or a connected entity of the Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any
time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, at no time during the
Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, (i) Mr. Wang Xiaoqi is interested in 382,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.028% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue; (i) Mr. Ho Yeung is
interested in 18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares of the
Company in issue; (iii) Mr. Cai Dan is interested in 682,000 ordinary shares
of the Company, representing approximately 0.05% of the total number of
ordinary shares of the Company in issue. Save as disclosed above, none of
the other Directors or their respective associates and the chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the minimum standards of dealing by directors of the Company as referred
toin Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, so far as the Directors are aware of and having made
due enquires, the following persons had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO and/or
were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any other members of the Group:
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Notes:

1. As Mr. Chan is the ultimate beneficial owner and the sole director of Happy On, by virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested in the 987,888,771 shares held by Happy
On.

2. “L" means long positions in the shares.

3. Based on 1,356,250,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the Reporting Period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the largest and the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 46% and 98% of the Group's total
purchases respectively. Sales to the largest and the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 40% and 95% of the Group's
total sales respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's
five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) of the Company had an interest in a business which competed with
or might compete with the business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 19 August 2020, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the "Sale and Purchase Agreement’) with Mr. Liu Jingjing (BIF ) (the
"Purchaser’), to dispose of the entire issued share capital of China Mobile
Payment Technology Group Company Limited (Bl S Bl i £ B B
FR A A]) (the “Target Company’), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company for a total consideration of HK$50,000 subject to the terms
and conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement (the “Disposal’). The
Disposal completed simultaneously upon signing of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement.
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Immediately prior to the Disposal, the Target Company held 90% equity
interests in Hua Strong Network Science and Technology Company
Limited* ("Hua Strong") = X A48 BHE B BR 2 &) which in tun held 51%
equity interests in Beijing Huagin World Technology Company Limited*
('Beijing Huagqin’) 1t R E #) K EHE AR 2 &), and controls the board
of directors of Beijing Huagin. The Purchaser was a director of both of Hua
Strong and Beijing Huagin. Given that both Hua Strong and Beijing Huagin
were indirect non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company before the
Disposal, and the Purchaser was both a director of Hua Strong and Beijing
Huaqin, the Purchaser was thus a connected person at the subsidiary level
of the Company. Hence, the Disposal constituted a connected transaction
for the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As all the
applicable percentage ratios (as defined in Rule 19.07 of the GEM Listing
Rules) (other than the profits ratio) were less than 25% and the total
consideration payable by the Purchaser to the Group under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement is less than HK$10,000,000, the Disposal was exempt
from the circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the Disposal were published in the announcement dated 19
August 2020 of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the related party transaction of the Company for
the Reporting Period is set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. Such related party transaction did not constitute a connected
transaction under the GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as required under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
there was or is any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the
benefit of any Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or
of its associated company (made by the Company).
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in May 2000, and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 10 January 2019 in
accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At present, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non- executive
Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the Audit
Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the corporate governance report on pages 17 to 34 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021, the financial statements of
the Company had been audited by Prism CPA Limited whose term of office
will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution to
re-appoint Prism CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed to the shareholders of the Company for approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 11 June 2021

¥ For identification purpose only
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Summiary Financial Information
B E R 2

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as

AEEBEREAMRFERZEAMEENREE
BEREEERES (BERERECHHRE) 28

extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out below: Z
FINANCIAL SUMMARY HBREE
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BHE_Z-—F=-A=+—HIFE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B —ZE2-FF —2-NEF ZE-N\F ZZT—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAT FAT FHET
(restated)
(g E5)
RESULTS E5
Revenue Wzs 41,242 26,556 12,256 17,258 28,561
Profit/(loss) before taxation B AT Il (E548) 6,345 (33,225) (34,232) (12,703) (67,033)
Income tax credit/(expense) FTSEiIE %R, (k) 15 606 (229) 431 (251)
Profit/(loss) for the year from £ Xl B 48 &
continuing operations EELEHN
= (EHR) 6,360 (32619) (34461) (12,272) (67,284)
Discontinued operations, ~ B4R PR
net of tax MR B - - - - 773
Profit/(loss) for the year FRmF, (E8) 6,360 (32,619 (34,461) (12,272) (66,511)
Attributable to: AT AL
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE ¥ =N 16,703 (26,710) (22,928) (8,519) (39,606)
Non-controlling interests ~ FEIE IR RS (10,343) (5,909) (11,533) (3,753) (26,905)
6,360 (32,619) (34,461) (12,272) (66,511)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ER AR
Total assets mEE 62,017 89,277 112611 192,073 193,633
Total liabilities BEeE (37,125) (98,718) (89,828) (141,576) (133,023)
24,892 (9,441) 22,783 50,497 60,610
Attributable to: AT A&
Owners of the Company PA/NEIE 2= DN 28,413 11,892 39,463 64,654 69,699
Non-controlling interests ~ FE¥Z IR 25 (3,521) (21,333) (16,680) (14,157) (9,089)
24,892 (9,441) 22,783 50,497 60,610
ETRHEBRAR
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QUANTUM THINKING LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Quantum
Thinking Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 81 to 184, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
BEETEE

BRETEE (&)
How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERNESFNAEERARENSE

Revenue recognition from project-based system development contracts

Refer to note 7 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 95 to 98.

We identified revenue from project-based system development
contract as a key audit matter as it is quantitatively significant to
the consolidated financial statements as a whole and there are
significant degree of management judgement exercised by the
management of the Group in determining the total outcome of
the system development projects as well as the percentage of
completion of system development and the amount of contract
revenue recognised.

As stated in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the proportion of contract
costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total contract costs. Accordingly, revenue recognition
on contract revenue involves a significant degree of management
estimates and judgment, with estimates being made to assess
the total contract costs and stage of completion of the contracts.

The Group has recognised revenue from project-based system
development contracts of approximately HK$19,068,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

We have discussed with the project managers and the
management of the Group and checked the supporting
documents, such as system development contracts and payment
certificates to assess the reasonableness of the management's
estimation of the budgeted revenue and budgeted contract
costs.

We have recalculated the percentage of completion based on
accumulated actual cost incurred to date over the total budget
cost.

We assessed reliability of management’s assessment in budget
cost by considering the historical actual costs and estimation of
budget costs of completed project.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
BEETEE

BREEIE(E)
How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMNESFNAEERARENSE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
BEETEE

BRETEE (&)
How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMNESFNAEERARENSE

Loss allowance on trade and other receivables and contract assets

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies from pages 112 to 117.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of the Group's trade
and other receivables and contract assets are approximately
HK$5,493,000, HK$1,883,000 and HK$225,000 respectively, net of
accumulated loss allowance on other receivables of
approximately HK$309,000.

We have identified the loss allowance on trade and other
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter because the
amount is significant to the consolidated financial statements as
a whole and there is involvement of a significant degree of
management’s judgements and estimates involved in assessing
the expected credit loss ("ECL") model, based on the historical
credit loss experience and forward-looking information specific to
the debtors and their economic environments.

Our audit procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment of the ECL model adopted for the loss
allowance on trade and other receivables and contract assets.

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology used,
its development processes and relevant controls adopted by the
management of the Group in the ECL model.

We have also assessed the reasonableness of assumptions and
judgements made by the management of the Group on the ECL
model adopted, parameters selected and the internal credit
rating used. We have also examined the key data used in the ECL
model on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and
reasonableness.

BFEHEERAT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
BEETEE

BREEEE(H)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMNESFNAEERARENSE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
BEETEE

BREESEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMNESFNAEERARENSE

Valuation of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 118 to 119.

The Group recognised financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss ("FVTPL") in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum Technology Information Co., Ltd., ("“Shenzhen
Quantum’)* JRYITH & FEHEFEBR A F] and its subsidiary,
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd. ("CITIC
Cyber Security’)* 7 31| 711 1 {5 4 &2 3R & B BR 22 7). The fair
value measurements require management’s estimation and
significant judgment on post-acquisition performance of the
acquired businesses and discount rates used.

Financial liabilities are remeasured at fair value at each reporting
date and may be affected by changes in the estimation of post-
acquisition performance of the acquired businesses. Any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss
account.

We have identified the valuation of financial liabilities at FVTPL as
a key audit matter because there is involvement of a significant
degree of judgements and estimates made by the management
of the Group when performing the valuation exercise judgments
in relation to the post-acquisition performance of individual
businesses and discount rates applied, which may be affected by
unexpected changes in future market or economic conditions or
significant events or circumstances related to the acquired
businesses.

The Group has engaged an independent valuer to apply
valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial
liabilities at FVTPL. These valuation techniques, in particularly
those required significant unobservable inputs, usually involve
subjective judgment and assumptions, the valuation results can
vary significantly.

As at 31 March 2021, the fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL
was nil.

¥ For identification purpose only

Our audit procedures were designed to challenge the
assumptions, estimations and critical judgements of the
management on the valuation of the financial liabilities at FVTPL.

We checked the calculation of fair value of other financial
liabilities prepared by management and independent valuers
against the formula stated in the investment agreement of the
acquired businesses.

We have also assessed the valuation performed by the
independent valuer. We have tested the underlying data and
assumptions used in the profit forecasts and cash flow projections
by agreeing the budgets approved by the management of the
Group and compared with actual results available up to the
report date. We have also challenged the reasonableness of the
management judgements and estimates used in the profit
forecasts and cash flow projections, including the forecasted sales
and growth rate, against latest available information. We have
also challenged the discount rate adopted by the independent
valuer in the value-in-use calculations by reviewing its basis of
calculation and comparing the input data to market sources.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
BEETEE

BREEIE(E)
How the matter was addressed in our audit
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
alsor

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Fan Chi Hang Stephen.

Prism CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Fan Chi Hang Stephen

Practising Certificate Number: P06144

Hong Kong
11 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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BE-_TZ-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

2021 2020
B —-F ZETHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B EE FET FH&T
Revenue W= 7 41,242 26,556
Cost of sales $HEE Ak AN (37,805) (24,986)
Gross profit EF 3,437 1,570
Other income L ON 8 9,608 2,557
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries R B R R M 27 20,124 -
Change in fair value of financial liabilities BATEFABRHERIEE
at fair value through profit or loss BN FEEZS = 1,792
Distribution costs PaN = IDW:N (213) (3470)
Administrative expenses THRX (25,584) (35,308)
Impairment loss on other receivables Hh IR R IE R R E RS 18 (309) -
Finance costs B 75 & 9 (718) (366)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BEIADER(B8) 6,345 (33,225)
Income tax credit Fri8fiik e 10 15 606
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(FE) 11 6,360 (32,619)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: LA~ A Tt FEEFERZER (BE) :
Owners of the Company PIN/NETEZ =N 16,703 (26,710)
Non-controlling interests R AR (10,343) (5,909)
6,360 (32,619)
Other comprehensive income Hitt2EWR &
Items that will not be reclassified BT B EE Bl
subsequently to profit or loss IHH
Exchange differences arising on S EmE B EERE
translation of financial statements BEVEEFELERN
from functional currency to e H Z5E
presentation currency 524 395
Other comprehensive income FREMEZEKZ
for the year 524 395
Total comprehensive income/(expense) F£REMEKE (BIx%) B4
for the year 6,884 (32,224)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) LT AtEEERZEH
for the year attributable to: Wi (BAsZ) 458 -
Owners of the Company KAFHEA A 17,894 (27,571)
Non-controlling interests IEIERR RS (11,010) (4,653)
6,884 (32,224)
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable 22 B#HE AEEER
to the owners of the Company BR,(&8)
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR #EE (GB(L) 15 1.23 (1.97)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR

Asat31 March2021 RZZE-_—H=A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5T FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment W= KR 16 3,524 6,337
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 1,940 6,440
Intangible assets B EE 18 28 41
Goodwill EES 19 - -
Total non-current assets kRBEELE 5,492 12,818
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H ih e RIS 20 8,830 10,076
Contract assets BHEE 21 225 1,193
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEBRED
profit or loss TREE 22 28,623 29,035
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR MRS 23 18,847 28,030
56,525 68,334
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFBIEHENEE 27 = 8,125
Total current assets REBEEHAE 56,525 76,459
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 LA E FRIE 24 34,349 14,656
Lease liabilities HEaE 17 1,654 3,550
Contract liabilities BREE 25 690 251
Financial liabilities at fair value through BAFEEFABRED
profit or loss TRIBE 26 - -
Income tax payable JEAS TSR 23 21
36,716 18,478
Liabilities associated with assets ENEARFEREN
classified as held for sale BEMRENEE 27 - 76,704
Total current liabilities wWREaE 36,716 95,182
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE(BR)FE 19,809 (18,723)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBERS 25,301 (5,905)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fre MR

Asat31 March2021 R-ZE-_—F=HA=+—H

2021 2020
B —-F —E_TF
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5T FET FET
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAaE 17 409 3,536
Net assets/(liabilities) BEEFE (AEFSH) 24,892 (9,441)
Equity =
Share capital %N 29 135,625 135,625
Reserves HE (107,212) (123,733)
Equity attributable to owners AATEEAELER
of the Company 28,413 11,892
Non-controlling interests FEERERE (3,521) (21,333)
Total equity/(deficits) R (FAL) B 24,892 (9,441)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 184 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 11 June 2021 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Wang Xiaoqi
)

Director

EF

F R I EMAVBHRREETEN T ——
FRA+—BHEREETZ  THTHESAR

REE

Ho Yeung
1Pz
Director

EF
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Comsolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

/ 3 1;% T \ /m:lm %b i%
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & ZE—=

T —F=A=+—RHILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREE AR
Non-
Share Share  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve losses Total interests Total
BRA RADERE R E RiEE B FERER ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-ZTFWA—A 135,625 99,935 (5,448) (218,220) 11,892 (21,333) (9,441)
Profit/(loss) for the year EREN/ (BE) - - - 16,703 16,703 (10,343) 6,360
Other comprehensive Hh2EKA/(BX)
income/(expense)
Exchange differences arising SRR mNEEE
on translating of financial BHERZ2F| G
statements from functional EANELER
currency to presentation
currency - - 1,191 - 1,191 (667) 524
Total comprehensiveincome/ £R2EKRA,/(Bx%)

(expense) for the year k) - - 1,191 16,703 17,894 (11,010 6,884
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 27) (&M= (Mi3E27) - - (1,373) - (1,373) 28,822 27,449
At 31 March 2021 R-ZB-—-&

=A=+-H 135,625 99,935 (5,630) (201,517) 28,413 (3,521) 24,892
Attributable to owners of the Company
KRB AR
Non-
Share Share Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve losses Total interests Total
e i i B SRR ZEtE R @t FERER ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET FET FET FET FET FET
At April 2019 RZZE-NFNA—H 135,625 99,935 (4,587) (191,510) 39463 (16,680) 22,783
Loss for the year FRER - - - (26,710) (26,710) (5909) (32619)
Other comprehensive Hih2E (%) /WA
(expense)/income
Exchange differences arising RHREEDEEE
on translating of financial BERZIINEE
statements from functional FrEEMELZSE
currency to presentation
currency - - (861) - (861) 1,256 395
Total comprehensive expense F N2 X A5

for the year - - (861) (26,710) (27,571) (4,653) (32,224)

At 31 March 2020 R-B-BE
=A=+-H 135625 99,935 (5448) (218.220) 11,892 (21333) (9441)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Forthe yearended 31 March2021 #HE-ZT-_—F=A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —T-THF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
F#&xT FHT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETER
Profit/(loss) before taxation AR E R (E51E) 6,345 (33,225)
Adjustments for: KRB IBFE
Depreciation of plant and equipment W E MR EITE 3,395 2,977
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 2,077 4,749
Amortisation of intangible assets mH A 13 13
Loss on written-off of plant and equipment W E LR s E R - 1,389
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries R B A R M (20,124) -
Investment income from financial assets REBAFEFAEBTZRN
at fair value through profit or loss DRLEERNRERA (820) (1,076)
Gain on lease modification HEESM = (631) -
Interest income from bank deposits IRITFREF B YA (200) (138)
Income from waived of lease repayment HeBEETRNKE (128) (488)
Impairment loss on other receivables HAb EURIBRREEE 309 -
Finance costs ﬂﬁﬁ%gﬁﬁ 718 366
Change in fair value of financial liabilities TE@$TE§+AT§§W$E$§%E@
at fair value through profit or loss N EZE - (1,792)
Operating cash flows before movements in EBEECEPINKERSRE
working capital (9,046) (27,225)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 & Eo A e IR 1 0 (17,997) (7,058)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHREERLD /(M) 1,032 (1,225)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5) R Eo A T FRIBIE N 15,801 9,108
Increase in contract liabilities SHBEEM 404 251
Cash used in operations KEEBHRANES (9,806) (26,149)
Income tax refund EIREPTIEF 15 153
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES REZHHANRLSFE (9,791) (25,996)

ETEHBRAT
BZASTRAT,
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2021 #HE-—Z-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EBEF
HK$'000 HKS$' 000
F#&xT FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BARRAFESAEBEN
through profit or loss SREE (8,011) (77,875)
Net cash outflows from disposal of subsidiaries HERBARMNRS KL FE
(note 27) (Mtat27) (257) -
Purchase of plant and equipment BEME M RE (170) (5,126)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets BEEBRATEFABENEREE
at fair value through profit or loss BIFT1S /I 10,774 88,562
Investment income from financial assets KEABEATEFABEZNEREE
at fair value through profit or loss AR E WA 820 1,076
Interest income from bank deposit RITFERA A B A 200 138
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETHABNASFHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 3,356 6,775
FINANCING ACTIVITY REEE
Repayment of lease liabilities HEBENEN (2,279) (2,590)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITY METHDANREER (2,279) (2,590)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERREEEMHL FHE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (8,714) (21,811)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNRERAEEEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 28,260 51,278
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXSFHNTE (699) (1,207)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRESRESEEY
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY (BRTHESBRREE)
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 18,847 28,260
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRASEEYHERIN
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents Re kB EEY 18,847 28,030
Cash and cash equivalents included in BEERFELEEETNRER
assets classified as held for sale ReEEY - 230
18,847 28,260
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 8 May 2000 and its
shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 July 2000.

The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The address of the principal place of business of the
Company is situated at Room 1403, 14/F, Capital Centre, 151
Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Happy On Holdings Limited ("Happy On”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Company is an investing holding company. Its major operating
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the provision of system
development services and other value-added technical consultation
services and trading of hardware products.

The functional currency of the Company and the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") while that
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") are Renminbi ("/RMB"). For the purpose of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HKS as
its presentation currency which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs") and the following
amendments to HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and amendments issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
where are effective for the Group's financial year beginning 1 April
2020:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material

and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRSs and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material effect on the Group's financial performance
and position for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2021

2.

FE R HTR] R ARABFT B R M B R 5
ZA(TEBHBHREER )

RAFE  AEEEEREABE RS
NE([EREAEAAE ) RAENTEUHER
SEA((ERMBREER DB SERNE
MEHER] A TEIERT BB M B IRE LR -
BREREBMHREER FEGHEN(E
BEIEA ) REFT  HE-T-_TFIA
—ARMARR A S B EFE AR

FEMEHRELER XBHER
5 3SRAER]
BB ERHERIE 15 BEAMER

REBEFER
F8IRMIEET
BEMEHRELERE IR -
ARG EAFE R R
BB kA 2R
F7RMERT

IEE S

RAFERNERE LM B REENBSIER
MR ERT RAEIER] BB M B R EERIE
REBARFERBEFENMBRELMAR
R/ S SR e BB RRAENRELES

B2 486
K& o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Forthe yearended 31 March2021 #HE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
amendments’
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 20213

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and
Its Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2?
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework*

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use*

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts: Cost of fulfilling
a contract?

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS
2018-2020 cycle*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective date not yet been determined

o v a2 W on -

The directors of the Company anticipate that, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Company Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets at fair value
though profit or loss and financial liabilities at fair value though profit
or loss that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantages) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has:

power over the investee;

exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group's returns.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, power over the investee may be obtained through: (i) a
contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (i) rights arising
from other contractual arrangements; (iii) the Group's voting rights
and potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above, based
on all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
of the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non- controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs incurred to effect a
business combination are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another standards,
are measured at acquisition-date fair value except for non-
controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwiill is allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or groups of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A CGU (or groups of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGUs (or groups of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the
CGUs is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
groups of CGUs). Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGUs, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. Such classification
requires the asset or the disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for sales of such asset or disposal group and its
sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs of disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods and
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services to a customer. Specifically, the Group uses a five-step
approach to recognise revenue:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a

performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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BHE_Z-_—F=RA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or
a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract
assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major sources:

Sales of hardware products;

Revenue from system development and consultancy services;
and

Revenue from maintenance services.
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sales of hardware products

Revenue from sales of hardware products is recognised at a point in
time when the control of the goods is transferred to the customers.
Control of the goods is considered transferred to customers at the
time of delivery.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Revenue from system development and consultancy services

Revenue from system development and consultancy services were
recognised over time.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
(Input method)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method. Input methods
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation (for example, resources
consumed, labour hours expended, or costs incurred) relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation. The Group's efforts or inputs are expended evenly
throughout the performance period, the Group recognise revenue
on a straight-line basis.

Revenue from maintenance services

The Group enters into fixed price maintenance contracts with its
customers. Customers are required to pay in advance and the
relevant payment due dates are specified in each contract. Revenue
is recognised at a point of time based on the maintenance service
period.
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BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is
a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for
the provision of the specified good or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease, at inception of the contract or modification date. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability
with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option) and leases of low value assets. For these leases,
the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date. The lease payments are discounted by using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate,
initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

EXRETEE (&)

HE (&)

HERE

REBEH  AEEREAWAXNHEE
FREREFEEERE - HEFACEHAEE
RS RN KRR o MAREE S ER %A
o BIARKEEREIEEERNE -

EEHEFE(BEEEETEHE) R
EREEEEES

RIEBEMN R ER R ZHERR -
VIFiRFs B E IR B R KA &

AEEARBRGEEREEREND
TR

BREEEEOTES (MAREASERE
ETRRZEERE) - &

AR 1 E TS B SR (17 & R = AR
AEETERETHENEER) -

HERBEEGESWBHRAKRTEBEY -

HEAGBBREENEREARREERE
B (EREERNZE) Ko D MR E A B
EHMEEFIRTE -

BFEHEERAT
R —FERE

99



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PN

3.

100

Are ISR M At

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or
change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using revised discount rate.

the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate
or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to
dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated over the
shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased assets
at the end of the lease term upon exercising purchase options, the
cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the related accumulated
depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to plant and
equipment.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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BHE_Z-_—F=RA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (ie. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as
deferred income/a deduction from the carrying amount of the
relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over
the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to the defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “"MPF scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect
of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either (i) the same taxable entity; or (i) different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method for the
plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment losses on plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets below).

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimate useful lives. The estimated
reserves and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash, as defined
above.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Impairment losses on plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (other than
impairment of goodwill set out in accounting
policy of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (other than
impairment of goodwill set out in accounting
policy of goodwill above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGU, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGU, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGU. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGU.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value-in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGU. An
impairment loss was recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"), and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost
if both of the following conditions are met:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)

U]

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on
initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses
("ECL"), through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a
credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by
discounting the estimated future cash flows, including ECL, to
the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)

U]

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying

amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
the Group recognises interest income by applying the credit-
adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation does
not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the
financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the “Other income” line item (note 8).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Specifically, debt
instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the
FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
note 6.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments in
debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The
ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2021

EXRETEEE (&)

£HTA(E)

LRMEE ()
BATEHA BRI S BEE

A GHR R R A RIR A T ES AL

iﬁqﬂlﬁﬁﬁiﬁ'}ﬁwﬂléﬁﬁﬁ N EEFAE
wmer®E o BBME @ THFEBHERA KM
Tﬁ@iﬁﬁ)\ﬁf’@%@uﬁl%ﬂ%ﬁ:ﬁ@%ﬁ%lﬂ
DEAEAFEF AR

BAVEFAEENESREELZNSREH

FARNAFESE  MEMRFERERE

BRIRBERPER - 2 FEDEN 6P
HAETE °

REBEFIZBEXATENES TAKRERE
RIEMEEFENEERE - BEEERIE
CHERSMEANEN  URMEERRA
MR ER BB TALURNES -

REBREE ZRKFREREHEHIE
EEE - ZFEREENTEREEBE/R
BAKERTEEBHBRLRRARHEEE
1That > WIREBBANFERE - —REE

X AT /A

AR A K ¥R & B HIE AT R IR RIARR B F

(BREE¥OREEE(ER)) EHEE -
SAAAEMERMIAMS - AREZESERN
REABMEEERSETEBRERE

i (= & kR B V) L HERIARRE L N - AR
SEERATHEHEESE - nZHEXE?:W\JT
R MR EEERKES TP HER A

AR AR BT AR ARIE IR o

Ch¥

>>+



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN

Are MR M Rt

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE_Z-_—F=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group's
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk for a particular debtor, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or
the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a
financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;
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BHE_Z-_—F=RA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of ‘investment grade' in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the
asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past
due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over three years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee
contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the
reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to
be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on
historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future
financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease
receivable, the cash flow used for determining the expected credit
losses is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected
loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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HE_Z-_—F=A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that
the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVLTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does
not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement
approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting
policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies, 2)
held-for-trading, or 3) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or
losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in profits or losses
to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a
financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination, (2) held-for-trading, or (3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.
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BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. At the end of the
subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are
measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation (if appropriate) recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except net realisable value of inventories
and value in use of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets for the purpose of impairment assessment, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group
categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, based on
the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

System development contracts revenue
recognition

The Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to
the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the accumulated actual of
contract costs incurred for work performed to date over the
estimated total contract costs. Notwithstanding that the
management reviews and revises the estimates of both contract
revenue and costs for the system development contract as the
contract progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in terms of
its total revenue and costs may be higher or lower than the estimates
and this will affect the revenue and profit recognised.

Impairment of plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at the end of each
reporting period. Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are approximately HK$3,524,000 and
HKS$ 1,940,000 respectively (2020: HK$6,337,000 and HK$6,440,000
respectively). Based on the estimated recoverable amounts, no
impairment loss in respect of plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets has been recognised in profit or loss (2020: nil).
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BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Estimated useful life of plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the Company
review the estimated useful life of plant and equipment with finite
useful life. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’ estimates of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group'’s plant and equipment. The
residual values reflect the directors’ estimated amount that the
Group would currently obtain from disposal of the assets, after
deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already
of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
The carrying amounts of plant and equipment with finite useful life
as at 31 March 2021 are HK$3,524,000 (2020: HK$6,337,000).

Allowance recognised in respect of trade and
other receivables and contract assets

The impairment provisions for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the number of days that an
individual receivable is outstanding as well as the Group's historical
experience and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary
to make additional impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of trade receivables, other
receivables and contract assets are approximately HK$5,493,000
(2020: HKS7,854,000), HK$1,883,000 (2020: HKS$1,407,000) and
HK$225,000 (2020: HK$1,193,000) respectively, net of accumulated
loss allowance of approximately nil (2020: nil), HK$309,000 (2020: nil)
and nil (2020: nil) accumulated loss allowance respectively.

Loss allowance on other receivables approximately HK$309,000
(2020: nil) has been recognised during the year ended 31 March
2021.

No loss allowance on trade receivables and contract assets have
been recognised during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Fair value of financial liabilities

As described in note 6, the directors of the Company use their
judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for
financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied.
Financial liabilities are valued using a discounted cash flow analysis
based on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable
market price or rates. The estimation of fair value of financial liabilities
include some assumptions not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The carrying amount of the financial liabilities as at 31
March 2021 is nil (2020: nil). Details of the assumptions used are
disclosed in note 6. The directors of the Company believe that the
chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are appropriate in
determining the fair value of financial liabilities.

Income taxes

As disclosed in note 28, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$183,263,000 (2020: HK$165,664,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams as at 31 March 2021. The realisability of the
deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary difference will be available in the future.
In case where the actual future profits generated are less than
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the year in which such a
reversal take place.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. EXEBmERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able AEBEBREERUBRAEBEIFEL
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to & RIS E B E L E S B AR A B B & E AR
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity RHEHREAL - B E—FENUEK  KEE
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior R RBR IS & o
year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of trade and other AEBMERGEEBIENT4MEENES
payables disclosed in note 24 and cash and cash equivalents NEAFERTOE - M 23FTIEMNIE S KR
disclosed in note 23, and equity attributable to the owners of Group, SEEY  URARAHEE AELEZ (R
comprising issued capital and reserves. FEETRARHERE) -
The directors of the Company review the capital structure RABEETFTHEMEALEE - EAEHMB
periodically. As part of the review, the directors of the Company —H o ARRERZEEEARMA N EZLE
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class ERERANRR  TIELESTEARAE
of capital, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s capital RBERZEE - BIBEARREENEZ - K
structure. Based on the recommendations of the directors of the SEBEEBERER  REKBITHRGF
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through o HL BR RS S KRR o
use of debts, payment of dividends and issuance of new shares.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. TRITH
Categories of financial instruments TRIANSE
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost RBIENATENSREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BB LRESEEY) 26,223 37,291
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABRZNEREE 28,623 29,035
54,846 66,326
Financial liabilities cEas
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost REEN A ENEMERAE 36,412 21,667
Financial liabilities of FVTPL BRAFEFABENERERS
Designated as at FVTPL (see note 26) BERAFETAERZE
(R Kt 26) - -
ETRHEBRAR
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, bank balances and cash, financial assets at FVTPL, trade
and other payables, financial liabilities at FVTPL and lease liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments included
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to

ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
bank balances, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. USD are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entity.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

6.

EMTA (&)
TRMEAREEARREER
AEENIECRHTARKEE S REMMEY

FIE -~ RITES ﬁ%&fﬁﬁ ?E’Aiizfﬁéﬂ\%ﬁé
MNEMEE B NHEMEMNZIE - EZAF
ﬁﬁkﬁémiﬂg{uﬁﬁﬁﬁf°M#
SR T EMNFBNEBNERRE - 8BZE
R TEFEMNRReEMSER(E¥E
&%'J?H ) {:ff &/AL@JQ&)—W“"
WHﬂﬁ&%HKMﬁ RENTX - BEEE
FIENERZERE  UERLEERE
ITHEEE ©
5 R R
() HEER
KRBVETHEB AR BINEIRITE

SAREEmMBEINE AR - ZTTAKE
BREEBEAIINERHE

RE B UINEFHENAEEE

denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are as MEEMERE@MEBEWNT -
follows:
Assets
BE
2021 2020
=B —F —ETTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FH&T
usD eV 70 67
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging N5 BRI AR NS SR BUR
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange EREERIINERR  WKERERE

exposure and will consider hedging of significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity Analysis

The Group currently is mainly exposed to the effects of
fluctuation in USD as above. Management of the Group
considers the currency risk of the Group is insignificant for the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, hence no sensitivity
analysis is presented.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances (see note 23) carried at
prevailing market rates. The Group also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (see note 22). The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider other necessary action when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances is minimal due to short-term
maturities, hence, no sensitivity analysis is prepared.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge all obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and other
receivables and bank balance and cash. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on an collectively basis
by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other non-trade related receivables, the Group has assessed
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime
rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

internal credit rating;
external credit rating;

actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the operating result
of the borrower;

significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the borrower; and

significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the Group and changes in the operating
results of the borrower.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

6.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its operation
management committee to develop and maintain the Group's credit
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk
of default. The credit rating information is supplied by independent
rating agencies where available and, if not available, the operation
management committee uses other publicly available financial
information and the Group's own trading records to rate its major
customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises the
following categories:

Category
28

Description
it

EMTA (&)
SREREEEBRREE (H)

FERRE ()

A5 B i (= B R R
RBEERBRERE  AEEELHEL
LEEZBEHESEFAEEEERRT
Ao AMRBEENRROZESERKOE
TH M8 - EEFRENT BB REER

HNEER) - MEBRLIESARENNE

AT REBEZESSERAMARAR

MBENRARENE AR RBHEEE
BE REMES ARTIE - REERRE
EER SHEHNERKOD RS ETR
A HEFT SE AR 5 R 1E 5 T TR R 5
HF T -

AEB RN EERRFFERBIEUATER
Al

Basis for recognising ECL

BREMEFEFENESE

Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default o

rhas 12-month ECL

not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to as

Stage 1)
B4

e
aH

b At

RIS I B B ERIE (F5 56 1

P& ER)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant

TREEMNEDREREXBARAEEERRIYE

1218 AT HA{E B E1E

Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are

not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)

A] &E

ERE(EF 2ER)
Default
more events that have a detrimental impact on the

T RVEE RS E R B 156 R A IR IR HN{E I &

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or

E2MEMEEER — BEERE

&

Lifetime ECL — credit impaired

estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred

(refer to as Stage 3)

[=P4
7

==
ER=

b At

&9 553

=

2] FEREENMEAEEREG

2354
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic

prospect of recovery
BEMRKAEBEABARENT R IEF
W B FRIA H) 7 BT

ERE RSN EHYEELTRIRESRERR

C AMAEE

EHMEMEREER —FERE

)

Amount is written-off

FRIR AR 35
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

6. SRITHE (&)
ﬁmﬁﬂm%ii E &Ey% (nﬁ)

Credit risk (Continued) FERE (&)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) KEEE G ZERERE (&)
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group's financial TERFMFTEESREENEEERARIZ
assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by EERRIGE S AEERENZAEER
credit risk rating grades: A
2021 2020
—E--F —E_ZF
Internal Gross Net Gross Net
credit 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
Notes rating lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount amount  allowance amount
ABEE 12@EAZ2H
Bifst  FP&R AHEEEE REAE BREFE ERE¥E FERE BEEG RD¥E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FTHET FET FET FET
Trade receivables 20 (Note) Lifetime ECL 5,493 - 5,493 7,854 - 7,854
(simplified
approach)
g HEAGRR (Ff=E) ZHEHEERE
(%)
Other receivables 20 Performing  12-month ECL 1,883 - 1,883 1,407 - 1,407
H e s0R B# RAAESEE
B
Other receivables 20 Doubtful Lifetime ECL — not 309 (309) - - - -
credit impaired
H el s0R A&t 2HRBEESE
—EEERE
(309) -

Note:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated based
on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors,
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future
economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is
presented based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix. Note
20 includes further details on the loss allowance for these assets respectively.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets at FVTPL as
disclosed in note 22 best represent their respective maximum
exposure to credit risk. The Group holds no collateral over any of
these balances.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 27% (2020: 49%) and
82% (2020: 96%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest external customer and the top five largest external
customers respectively as at 31 March 2021.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash flow. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of each reporting

6. £MIA(E)

TREREEBERICK (&)

RBESRER (#)

TREBMERAEZRERE - WHANBRE
RFEME - ARBR SRR ERE RN

MR AR DTS -

period.
At 31 March 2021
RZBZ-§$ZA=+-H

More than More than Total

Within one 1 year but 2years but contractual
year or less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2years 5years cash flows amount

—ERF BR-F BAWE BHREE
BREX BLRME BPREE BRERELR fREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEx FExT TR THR
Trade and other payables S MEMENTIE 34,349 - - 34,349 34,349
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,709 410 - 2,119 2,063
36,058 410 - 36,468 36,412

At 31 March 2020
R_B_TF=RA=+—-H

More than More than Total

Within one 1 year but 2 years but contractual
year or less than less than undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5years cash flows amount

—ERHK BE—F BEME  ANAREER
REX BARME BIREE RenBeH REE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEL FEL FET FET
Trade and other payables ESREMERNTE 14,581 - - 14,581 14,581
Lease liabilities HERE 3813 2933 713 7459 7,086
18,3% 2933 713 22,040 21,667
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. £ET A (&)
Fair value measurement objective and policies AV EFEEERBEK
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that TREHENEREARZATEFEN S
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, BT AN  WIhEBEAREENSHBER
grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree NI EEREEREAE E-ERFE
to which the fair value is observable in accordance to the Group’s B4 -

accounting policy.

At 31 March 2021
R=—ZE-_—%=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E £=E F=E st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FTET

Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFABEN
SREE
— Wealth management products  — FRB1 & & - 28,623 = 28,623
At 31 March 2020
RZEZTF=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—E E_IE F=E 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T FHET TET
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEGTTABRN
SRIEE
— Wealth management products  — IR EI&E M - 29,035 - 29,035
There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in the REFRBEEE  AVFEEH B EE
current and prior years. B o
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement objective and policies
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value
measurements of each financial instruments on a recurring basis are
set out below:

Fair value as at 31 March

R=ZA=+-HHNAYE

6. SRITH(E)
AFEHEEEREE (E)

FEERBKEMERERATVEFENER
EERERMBENQTE
BREBELEEEEAELSSRMTANDFER
PR RS ER R A BB T -

Relationship of
key inputs and
Valuation Significant significant
Fair value technique and unobservable unobservable
2021 2020 hierarchy key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
BREAREE
HETER EXTAER DNHEMNEXFA
—B--F 22T DVEER BREANE BAYE BERABBHER
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRATESARRNEREE
— Wealth management products 28,623 29035 Level2 Quoted rate of return N/A N/A
by issuing bank
—BHER F_E BARAMDBEGE TER TER
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
BATEFAESNERER
— Financial liabilities arising - - Level3 Discounted cash flow Discountrate of 253%  The higher the discount
in relation to the provision of model based on (2020: 1.96%) rate, the lower
the Profit Guarantee discount rate and the value (note i)
future cash flow
—BRERANIREEE £ZE ERBERERRR BB % 253% HREES -
HeRaRE BEMEMER (Z2ZZF 190%) BESETT)
RemERR
Note: BitsE
0} If the discount rate to the valuation model were 10 basis point higher/lower (i) MEEEROBEIRER A TR I0EER - mET

while all the other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
financial liabilities arising in relation to the provision of the Profit Guarantee
would decrease/increase by nil (2020: nil).
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2021 #HE-_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

Fair value measurement objective and policies
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial
liabilities on recurring basis:

TRIA (&)
DNPEFERBERBEK (H)

FEBRBEEEMEEZAVEFERNER
EERERMBENDFEE)

RELEEELESRABES ZEAFE
MR -

il

Financial
liabilities
arising in
relation to the
provision of the

Profit Guarantee Total
PR AER
REEED
cREaE st
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 April 2019 RZE—NEFEMA—H 1,792 1,792
Change in fair value credited to profit or loss STABEMAFEZD (1,792) (1,792)
At 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 and RZEZEF=A=+—H"
31 March 2021 —E-ZENA-BR
—T-—%=ZA=+—H - -

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values due to their immediate or
short-term maturities.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
the other non-current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

ARBEFRR  HRGEEMHHRETERA
BERAN R IRERAATIRO RSB ERARE
BN s MR ARSI S - MEREEEEL AT
[ERIEES

ARBEFAR  NEAMBHRRTERAE
R ORI R AR ARRE L IER B & R
BEMNREEEREQAFERS -

BTRARRIE
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Forthe yearended 31 March2021 #HE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

Revenue represents revenue arising from system development
service, consultancy service, maintenance and other services and
sales of hardware products. An analysis of the Group's revenue for
the year is as follows:

Wi Ko EBE R

WantE R B ZAMAERIRTY - FEARY - #E&
NEAMRBE MEHER M EMO NS - XEE
FABmODHT

2021 2020
—E—— B -EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&TT
Revenue from contracts with customers BREBN R EERE 1598
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEAKKEE AR
Disaggregated by major products REZEMSF
—  Services —  R%
System development ES ok 19,068 11,815
Consultancy A 1,815 698
Maintenance and others HEE N A A 298 123
—  Sales of hardware — ﬁ’iﬁﬁiiﬁ— 20,061 13,920
41,242 26,556
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group's revenue from TXHEHVNAEBBARE B BREAERE 15
contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15: HEERNKARES AN E DT
Sales of
Services hardware Total
PR % SHEBHY At
For the year ended BE-ZE-—F% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
31 March 2021 ZA=t—-HLFE FET FET THET
Timing of revenue recognition TSR U 25 HY B ]
At a point in time RE—Fr R - 20,061 20,061
Over time FERE 21,181 - 21,181
21,181 20,061 41,242
Sales of
Services hardware Total
AR 7% SHERE M HET
For the year ended HE_T-ZF HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2020 ZR=+—RHIFE FAT FAT FAT
Timing of revenue recognition TSR U 25 A R
At a point in time RE—B5E2 - 13,920 13,920
Over time e B ] 12,636 - 12,636
12,636 13,920 26,556
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE_Z-_—F=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of transaction price
allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or
partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$9,428,000 (2020:
HK$9,634,000). The amount represents revenue expected to be
recognised in the future from software development contracts. The
Group will recognise this revenue as the service is completed, which
is expected to occur within one to five years.

Information reported to the directors of the Company, being the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of services provided. No operating segments identified by
the CODM has been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments are as follows:

—  System development, consultancy, maintenance and other
services ("Services”); and

—  Sales of hardware products.

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by
reportable and operating segment.

WKk o EBER (&)

TEERFENEENRZER

R-ZE-_—F=A=+—B 2EEHKRE
17 (HHD M AREIT) BNRIHNR HERE

¥H /4994280008 7L (ZZEZF4F : 9,634,000
BIL) c BESEEBHNRKBERFHAE
B HMERRES o« K EH R TTR AR TSR (58
HER—=2AFREE) ERZIAN -

RERPEEFEDEHXREMALAAGES
(Eﬂi%%&%ﬁ%ﬁ%(TIE?&%%J&%%D)%
WMOER ERRATIREREHER
BASER T 23 \*Bﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ\%xixﬁ%
RIREFBRIREEE DI

C REESR2HS BT

- MR I EA RS (AR

2 E W R RAE
T RIRA2HRD B REEN B DN AE
B R R AT

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-_Z-_—F=HA=1+—HLEFE
Sales of
Services hardware Total
AR 7% SHEEMY st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET
Segment revenue 7 EP UL AR 21,181 20,061 41,242
Segment profit/(loss) DEBE R, (E18) 2,985 (2,382) 603
Unallocated income FoEWA 3,352
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENE R S 20,124
Unallocated corporate expenses RoBLERX (16,829)
Unallocated finance costs RoBLE 75 A (596)
Impairment loss on other receivables L b [ U 3% 18 &9 )5 (8 &5 18 (309)
Profit before taxation BRI BT 6,345
TREBRLT
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.
(Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020

WKk EBER (&)

7 B W R I R AR (4R
BE-—S-SF=A=+-HLFE

Sales of

Services hardware Total

AR5 SHEP #ast

HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET FAT

Segment revenue 7 EW = 12,636 13,920 26,556

Segment loss o EBIEE (8,737) (3376) (12,113)

Change in fair value of financial BRATEET ABZR

liabilities at fair value through TRIBENA T EZES

profit or loss 1,792 - 1,792

Unallocated income RO EUA 2,557

Unallocated corporate expenses ROBERS (25,461)

Loss before taxation R AT S 18 (33,225)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Segment profit/
(loss) represents the profit/(loss) of each segment without allocation
of central administration costs, directors’ emoluments and other
income. This is the measure reported to the directors of the
Company with respect to the resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE_Z-_—F=A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. RERDEER ()
(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities THEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by AT AL 2|mo B MEE DB D HARE
reportable and operating segment: BEENBENDNT
Segment assets DEEE
2021 2020
—E=-—F —E-ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T FH&TT
Services AR 7 5,883 11,323
Sales of hardware HEE 6,441 7475
Total segment assets DEBERTE 12,324 18,798
Assets relating to disposal group HHERRIEENEE - 8,125
Corporate and other assets EREMEE 49,693 62,354
Total assets BEEE 62,017 89,277
Segment liabilities TEEE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HKS$'000
F#ET FAT
Services 7% 4,023 6,752
Sales of hardware SHEREM 4,240 6,743
Total segment liabilities DEEFERE 8,263 13,495
Liabilities relating to disposal group HPEAREENEE - 76,704
Corporate and other liabilities TCEREMEE 28,862 8,519
Total liabilities BEE 37,125 98,718
ETRHEBRAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WBERDIBER(HF)
(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEERERE (%’E)

RERDMRALDIES BEERMS ¢

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

intangible assets, unallocated deposits, prepayments and
other receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, bank balances and cash and other corporate assets.
Assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on
the basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable
segments; and

—  All assets are allocated to operating segment, other than — KBREREE RXHoEEe - BHRRE

MEMEUWFRE - IRAFEFABS
MEMEE  RITA ﬁ%&ﬁ’fu&ﬁ
b EEEI] Fﬁﬁééi@ LR
ENEe JE2EWwRS Hﬁ%méé
LAE B 7] 2 i&/‘*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂxmﬂi S1ER
D ELAEE

— Al liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other than — BARSREMENRBLIESER -
unallocated other payables and accruals, income tax payable FERFEREREMMERREN I
and other corporate liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable BEYUOIEEEENE  AI2HD
segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to HEFAENE BRI DE oA
segment liabilities. & e
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2021

7. WEKkDBER (&)

HihpHER
BE-_Z_—F=A=1+—HLEFE
Sales of
Services hardware Unallocated Total
PR 7% SHEE M bl st

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
TET TET TR TET

Amounts include in the measure  5tE D E0E I, (F548)
of segment profit/(loss) or st o2& ERET A
segment assets: HIFIR -

Addition to non-current assets REIEMEEE (FI5E)
(Note)
Depreciation and amortisation PTE R

Amounts regularly provided to the FHi[A) = B&E B REE

chief operating decision maker REEFEN B
but not included in the measure ;%> %0 & 7= A 3
of segment profit or loss or FTARFUR ¢

segment assets:

Interest income FE WA
Finance costs B8R
Income tax credit FriS i e

58 102 10 170
2,232 1,386 1,867 5,485
- = (200) (200)
44 78 596 718
- = (15) (15)

BETRAEARAT
B S



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=5
,2\\/\/\

SRR I ot

Forthe yearended 31 March2021 #HE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEkoHER (&)
(Continued)
Other segment information (Continued) Hiho EER (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE_ZT-_ZHF=HA=+—HLEE
Sales of
Services hardware  Unallocated Total
AR THEE Ko #agt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET FAT
Amounts include in the measure 5t 2D BfE B D &
of segment loss or BERGT ARIE
segment assets:
Addition to non-current assets NEIERHEE (M)

(Note) 8,712 3,420 2,560 14,692
Depreciation and amortisation WE R 3,527 1,394 2,818 7,739
Loss on written-off of plantand  $ifi $4 /8 E MK % 80 ET 18

equipment - - 1,389 1,389
Amounts regularly provided to the [EHim T BB REE

chief operating decision maker REEFTEDFEEL

but not included in the measure ”*Bé?ﬁijlﬂ

of segment profit or loss or FFABIEIR

segment assets:

Interest income B YA - - (138) (138)

Finance costs HEER - - 366 366

Income tax credit FrigHiEe - - (606) (606)

Note: Non-current assets included plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and Wi BT —FR=-_F-FT=A=+—HILHF
intangible assets for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. B RBDEEREREREE CRREER

EVEE -

Geographical information i & &

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group's BE_Z_-—HRk-_FT-_FTF=A=1+—H

operations are mainly located in the PRC. ILFE  REENEEFEUNPE -

Substantially all of the Group’s operation are in the PRC, no REBERABDEEMNFE - HIAL/ET)

geographical information is presented. R ER
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. RERDEER ()
(Continued)
Information about major customers EBREEFEFPNEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing KERHBEFEAREBRBIERE B 10% A
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: FREPRENT
2021 2020
-2 —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Company A' AFIA 16,487 7,320
Company B? UNGIER 10,165 9,934
Company C? NAEIC 8,012 3374
! Revenue from services segment. ; jﬁfi z zzzgij\jg .
2 Revenue from sales of hardware segment. - e 7
H
OTHER INCOME 8. RAtlA
2021 2020
—E_—— —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Interest income from bank deposits RITFFEMEWA 200 138
Investment income from financial assets BERATFEGTAERN
designated as at FVTPL ERMEENRERA 820 1,076
Income from waived of lease repayment HMeHERERHBA 128 488
Government grants (note) AT B (B 5E) 7,083 281
Gain on lease modification HE &R 631 -
Others HA 746 574
9,608 2,557
Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2021, included in the government grants are iz : @2 T -_—F=A=+—BLLEE st AKH

recognised government grant of approximately HK$359,000 (2020: nil) in respect
of COVID-19-related subsidies which related to Employment Support Scheme
provided by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. Government grants has been recognised as
other income on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises the staff costs for which the government grants are intended to
compensate. The Group recognised as other income for the year as the Group
fulfilled all the relevant granting criteria.

The remaining government grants of approximately HK$6,724,000 (2020:
HK$281,000) related to the government grants from the PRC local government
authorities in respect of subsidising the Group's scientific and technological and
operating activities, which were immediately recognised as other income for the
year as the Group fulfilled all the relevant granting criteria.

MR AT R R T AR S HRI AR T
fBIA359000 8 L (ZF=FF : T)  ZEEH
ERBITREBARGRARES TREMNR
FEFEIE R - BUTH B E R AN B S BUT #8)
ERAERHENE TRANHEE R R R
Hp A - RN ARENAREHEBRTEE
AERERF NFER B EAINA ©

# N T B) 4967240008 L ( — T — T F -
281,000 70) Bt A AR BRI REEEE)
M & B 5 B R R BRI 4 B B - &
RAREBERE A BRRDIEE - SZAER
BHERRBFANEAMBA

BT RERRAT
T FEHRE

143



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fre BRI A

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. UHKEH
2021 2020
=B —-F —ECTRE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on late settlement of litigation claims ~ fEiE 45 E 2FFAE A B 566 -
Interests on lease liabilities HEAENNE 152 366
718 366
/
10. INCOME TAX CREDIT 10. FREBE %
2021 2020
—E-— —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Over provision in prior years: BEFEHBEEEME -
PRC Enterprises Income Tax (“EIT") BTSN
([EmBEHR1) 15 606
Notes: BT
@) No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for the years ended 31 March 2021 (@ HE_Z-_—FR_T_ZTF=F=+—HItF
and 2020 as the Company did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong EIEREEMNEHER  REAAKNRAFLE
Kong Profits Tax. EAIRBM BB TSHHERTOE T
(b) Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law’) and (b) RERESEMESTE([DEMER L] R
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is FEBORERIEN - RZWEFE - PEIER
25% for both years. R E R 25% °
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the profit/(loss)

10. FREBLIE % ()
S BB X B A RS R R E KSR A

before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

FHAOMRBADEF, (BB BIRMT

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FHIT
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB ATs A (E518) 6,345 (33,225)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% R H AT ISF TR 2R 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%) “TFTF 1 165%)
SR IE 1,047 (5,482)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A AT OB B2
for tax purposes 1,036 92
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes 78 sk Fii Ug A B i 165 57 &2 (3,405) (560)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERNBEEENRGTE 3,805 8,066
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised & F 38 7F K HE SR B0 B4 18 518 (3) (40)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries PR Ath Bl AR R 45 & A BT B
operating in other jurisdictions RNETRBENFTZE (2,480) (2,076)
Over-provision in prior years BT FEBRERE (15) (606)
Income tax credit for the year FRAMSHIER (15) (606)

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 28.

BRAELEH IR F BN E28 -

BFEHEERAT
R —FERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

11. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

1. ERBER(FHE)

2021 2020
—E=- —ECTRE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&xT FHET
Profit/(loss) for the year has been arrived FREF(EBER) DR
at after charging: T B IBBZER -
Directors' and chief executive’s emoluments EEREETHRAEHM
(note 12) (M$=E12) 1,837 1,686
Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits ¥ &  T& - 285 M E 2T 7,986 14,476
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme BRIRBRETEIHER (TEEES
(excluding directors’, chief executive's FETHRABRESHH)
and supervisors’ emoluments) 297 780
Total staff costs |= WD 10,120 16,942
Auditor's remuneration IZEEN N & 450 795
Depreciation of plant and equipment B RS EITE 3,395 2,977
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 2,077 4,749
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE 13 13
Loss on written-off of plant and equipment s B L R E e - 1,389
Impairment loss on other receivables H b eI SR IB R B RS 18 309 -
Amount of inventories recognised as an expense fER AR NFE S 18,639 13,137
Lease rentals for office premises (note i) WMAEWEMRERS () 5 323
Net exchange loss [ 5 1855 334 193
Note: BisE -
0] The amounts represent lease rentals relating to short-term leases under 0] ZEeHEEBNBREENE 6RBETFHER
HKFRS16. HEMNHERS -
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Details of directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments are as follows:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a persons services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking:

12. EERFERTHRAESEHMN

EERIBUOBRABHMOFELT

HRZALTHEREBARNRREMBLRNE
BARBENBER M EHARE M IZAL
#3725 A o ATt % S AR A T B D Fr

B
Employer’s
Salaries, contributions to
allowances and retirement
Fees other benefits benefits scheme Total
e EHE EEXRERER
e HAb3E A HE [ #@st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TERT TERT THET
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-_E-—-F
ZA=+—-HLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr.Ho Yeung (note i) s (BEED) - 650 4 654
Mr. Wang Xiaoqj (note i) TrEEE LA (D - 620 20 640
Mr. Cai Dan (notes i and ii) P 5 (B ki &) = 123 = 123
Independent non-executive directors  J5 17 ST EE
Mr. Lau Chor Ki mEaLE 180 - = 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony HITFE AL 120 = = 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee ERELAE 120 - - 120
Total wst 420 1,393 24 1,837
ETRHEBRAR

R —FERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

12.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a persons services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or

its subsidiary undertaking:

12. EERFETHRASEHM ()

RZATHEREREARBLEMBARNE
BABENER T REOREM I NZAL
F 3 B 3K 5% A o RI Bt % S R % T W ER A Fr
B

Employer's
Salaries, contributions to
allowances and retirement
Fees other benefits ~ benefits scheme Total
e 2ER  EERRIKEF
ik HAiEH FHEIEK wat
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TAET FEL THET TET
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE_E_E&
ZA=t-HLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Yeung (note i) AT o A (B s ) - 650 18 668
Mr. Wang Xiaoqj (note i) FrEn & (M) - 580 18 598
Independent non-executive directors B FEHTEE
Mr. Lau Chor Ki MEaEsE 180 - - 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony HFELEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee BRELAE 120 - - 120
Total st 420 1230 36 1686
Notes: Bisr -

(i) The remuneration includes remuneration paid to them in their capacity as an

employees of the subsidiaries of the Company.

(if) Appointed on 1 March 2021.

No chief executive was appointed during the years ended 31 March

2021 and 2020.

No directors and chief executive of the Company waived or agreed

to waive the emolument paid by the Group during the years ended

31 March 2021 and 2020.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an

inducement for joining the Group or as compensation for loss of

office during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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For the yearended 31 March 2021 HE-—ZE-_—F=A=+—HIFE

13.

14.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EE 5
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2020: two) TEESHEALTH ME(ZE-_TF W
were directors of the Company whose emoluments are set out in Z)EKRKARES ?EZ 85BN E R KT T
note 12. The emoluments of the remaining three (2020: three) N -BI=ZZ(ZE_ZF: =ZR)HEoHA
highest paid individuals were as follows: TROFBT
2021 2020
—EC--F e 222
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits ¥4 ~ T& - 288 & H A8 7 2,514 2,227
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme  iRKEF st &I 7% 51 49
2,565 2,276

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BENME T FATHRE

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
=B —F —ETTF
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 21,000,000 7T 2 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T 2 1,500,000 7 7T 1 -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement for joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end
of the reporting period.

RBE-F-—FR-F-FE=A=1—
BULFRE - AREERMALRBHFALE
<L 8 DA A28 S o
BIE -

14)&%

Jtif*ﬁ%ﬁx)fiﬁigm/ﬁﬁﬂx% HE?&&%
IR E R IR RS
BFRABRAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

15. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

15. BRER (BR)

RATHEE A SREARBERT] (6
18) TYE R A TR

following:
2021 2020
—E-—-F kSt S5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&TT
Earnings/(loss) BR(BR)
Earnings/(loss) for the purpose of basic and B EEREAREERT,
diluted earnings/(loss) per share, (BB RAMRFN, (EE) -
representing profit/(loss) for the year BN BIHEE AFE(L
attributable to owners of the Company FREM,(EE) 16,703 (26,710)
2021 2020
—E-_—F —T_FF
Number of shares ROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares At EEIER MESER T,
for the purpose of basic and diluted (BE) KA @R
earnings/(loss) per share (‘000 shares) INFE 5 8 (Fh%) 1,356,250 1,356,250

The dilutive earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per
share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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SRR ot

BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

4= A

NN

For the year ended 31 March 2021

16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. BERRE

Leasehold Plantand Furniture Motor Office
improvements machinery and fixtures vehicle equipment Total
BRREE
HEWMELE BE R e ®£E RE BORE “sr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T TET T T THT
cosT BA
At1April 2019 RZZ-hf
MA—H 6,783 1656 1114 - 314 9,867
Additions HE 4,298 366 - 741 - 5405
Written-off WisH (2,549) - - - - (2,549)
Reclassified as held forsale  EH D ARBELE
(note 27) (F#E27) - - (1) - (55) (166)
Exchange alignment Gk (487) (53) (68) (19) @) (631)
At 31 March 2020 and R-B-ZF
1 April 2020 =A=t+-AK
—E-EENA-A 8,045 1,969 935 722 255 11,926
Additions NE 160 10 - - = 170
Exchange alignment R 683 82 73 61 - 899
At 31 March 2021 R-Z=-f
=ZA=t-H 8,888 2,061 1,008 783 255 12,995
DEPRECIATION AND HERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2019 RZZ-hGEMB—-H 2034 1174 674 - 262 4,144
Charge for the year FAXH 2519 208 132 9% 2 2977
Written-off M (1,160) - - - - (1,160)
Reclassified as held for sales ~ EF DR AIEEHE
(note 27) (HizE27) - - 73) - (60) (133)
Exchange alignment BRI (168) 1) (44) ) ) (239)
At 31 March 2020 and R-E-EF
1 April 2020 =A=+-8Rk
—E-EENA-A 3,225 1,361 689 94 220 5,589
Charge for the year ERLH 2,817 331 90 147 10 3,395
Exchange alignment EH AR 371 47 56 13 = 487
At 31 March 2021 R-B=—-f
=ZA=+-AH 6,413 1,739 835 254 230 9,471
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2021 R-B=--F
=A=+-AH 2,475 322 173 529 25 3,524
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-EE
ZA=+-H 4820 608 246 628 35 6,337
ETRHEBRAR

R —FERE
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fre BRI A

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

16. = K& (&)

=

=

KRR ERREETHERFIETH
CEBT

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term HEMEEE REEH
Plant and machinery 20% to 50% R K e 20% % 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 25% B EEEER 20% == 25%
Motor vehicle 20% "B 20%
Office equipment 20% NS L 20%
17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 17. A SEREEEE
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) ERAEEE
2021 2020
:g:—ﬂi —_ ? —= E'E
HK$’000 HKS$'000
T FHET
Buildings g 1,940 6,440

The Group has lease arrangements for office buildings and
premises with the lease terms of generally ranged from 2 to 3
years.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of
right-of-use assets of approximately HKS$2,745,000 was
derecognised due to the adjustment upon lease modification.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
March 2020 amounted to approximately HK$9,287,000 due to
new leases of buildings.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$6,690,000 was
derecognised due to the termination of lease agreement
entered into with an independent landlord.
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AR EEREAE  KIEERER
HEEEMERMAIEL] 2,745,000 7T ©

BE—_Z-ZF=A=+—HILFE -
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Are SRR M AL

Forthe year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)

17. EHEEEREERE ()

(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEA®E

2021 2020
—F-—F —EITF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Non-current IERE 409 3,536
Current nEh 1,654 3,550
2,063 7,086
Amounts payable under lease liabilities HEBEIETHENKIE 2021 2020
:g:—ﬂi — 7 —= qz
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TET FETT
Within one year —FR 1,654 3,550
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 409 2,828
After two years but within five years FBERFA - 708
2,063 7,086

Less: Amount due for settlement within B R 128 A R R4S YR8

12 months (shown under current (BB BEET)

liabilities) (1,654) (3,550)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 7 12 1@ 3 14 2| BB &5 1~ &9 5018 409 3,536

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities of approximately HK$3,376,000 was
derecognised due to the adjustment upon lease modification.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group entered into
two lease agreements in respect of renting properties and
recognised lease liabilities of approximately HK$9,287,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities of approximately HK$6,786,000 was
derecognised due to the termination of lease agreement
entered into with an independent landlord.

B2 —%F-A=t—HLFE"
AR EERERAE  KIEEREE
BERBREEL 3,376,000 7T ©

BE—_Z2-TF=-A=+—HILFE -
Z!S‘ilfrﬁﬁia%%pTﬁﬁf HE W=
WiERIHE B (&%) 9,287,000 T °

(E_FTF-A=T—HILEFE -
R IFEB Y ETME]I Y EER
FOAUIBRAEMEAENEREEEDY
6,786,000 78 7T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

154

(Continued)
(iii) Amount recognised in profit or loss

(iv)

17. EHEEEREERE(E)

(iii) REEPERINEHE

2021 2020

=B —-F —ET_TF

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FER FAT

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 2,077 4,749

Interests on lease liabilities HEBENNE 152 366

Income from waived of lease repayment  EA R E B AU A (128) (488)

Gain on lease modification HE B WS (631) -

Expense relating to short-term leases BRAEAEEMNRX 5 323
Others (iv) Hfts

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total cash outflow
for lease amount to HK$2,279,000 (2020: HK$2,590,000).

At 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, no lease agreement not
yet commenced is committed by the Group.
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2021 #HE-_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. B EE

Development Trademark
cost costs Total
ek 9% BERA et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FExT FER
COST D%
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, RZE-NFHEA—H
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 —E-EF=R=1+—8"
“ETFMA-HR
—E-—#%=HF=+—H 61 10 71
AMORTISATION ey
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—hFMNA—H 12 5 17
Charge for the year FARAZH 12 1 13
At31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-ZE-ZTF=A=+—HRK
—E-FTFMA—H 24 6 30
Charge for the year FAZH 12 1 13
At 31 March 2021 R-E-—-#=H=+—H 36 7 43
CARRYING VALUES BRTEE
At 31 March 2021 R=-B=-—%=A=+—H 25 3 28
At 31 March 2020 R-BE-ZEF=A=+—H 37 4 4

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Development costs 5 years
Trademark costs 10 years

blEPEERERREMRFY - BRAEL
BERBGENEMGFHERFRARSE - &

BT

TN
R

56
104F
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A R

Forthe yearended 31 March 2021 #HE-_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE

19. GOODWILL 19. B8
2021 2020
—E--F —TTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
cosT A
At 1 April and 31 March RUA—BER=A=+—H 4,139 4,139
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RitBEBR
At 1 April and 31 March REUA—BER=A=+—H 4,139 4,139
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 March RZA=+—H - -
Goodwill is arising from the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum AEDRWE R mE FREAEAR AR
Technology Information Co,, Ltd. ("Shenzhen Quantum’) and has (MTRYIEFHMESLE  WEBHIEEAREE
been allocated to the one CGU of the Group, which is included in EEARGEBN —FREEESBMNA -
the services business.
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group assessed the HEZZ-NF=-A=1+—HLFE £&
recoverable amount of goodwill on value-in-use basis and EizftAEEEENEEENAIKRESFEL
determined that the carrying amount of HK$4,139,000 was fully HrTREBE=Z2mMWERIE FMEL
impaired arisen from the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum due to 4,139,000;8 TR BRHIE & 2 BURIE -

worsening of business.
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. EF R HMEWKIEA
2021 2020
=B —-F —ECTRE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Receivables at amortised cost comprise: LS AN ET B B IR GRIA BT
Trade receivables E 5 RWGIB 5,493 7,854
Deposits b 1,056 533
Prepayments TR SRIA 1,454 815
Other receivables (note i) H b pE U A (B EED) 1,136 874
9,139 10,076
Less: loss allowance for other receivables B B FURR B R
(note i) (5T (309) -
8,830 10,076
As at 31 March 2021, the gross amount of trade receivables arising RIZE-_—F=A=+—RH BEFEHME
from contracts with customers amounted to approximately HEE FRIGRIBAEREA) 75,493,000 T (=
HK$5,493,000 (2020: HK$7,854,000). T ZFF 1 785400087T) °
There was no impairment loss recognised in the consolidated BE_Z-_—F=-A=1+—HILFZ T8
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the WMEBENGAER A2 E KSR
year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: nil). B(ZE_TF )

EFREERAT
f%:*if‘i;&% 157



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PN

20.

158

Are ISR M At

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BHE_Z-_—F=RA=+—HItFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group normally allows a credit period of not more than 120 days
to its customers, although an extension of the credit period is not
uncommon for customers who have a long term relationship with
the Group. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of this and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of loss
allowance for trade receivables, presented based on the invoice
date, which approximates revenue recognition date at the end of
each reporting period.

20. ES R HMEWE

XIE (58)

REBE—RiETEFTHEBI20RNEED
BESREAEEFRABERNEPMELER
1:.,\,HHIT¢EM 265 B ) SRR P B AR Uk
O e FRIE - T = AR B IR 2 Bl E B T i R
ek e BR R BDLKEIE%FH%A
HASSMEFLHENE  RHIUESAEER
EFRMIBER

AT AR E&REPRRBEE IR SRR Hﬂ
MBEREHZINE S REFIA MR E
S IEWGRIRE R E) RRER DT o

2021 2020
—E-— —ETF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Within 90 days 90 A 3,674 7,161
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H 1,819 693
5,493 7,854

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses on trade
receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to
past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR M

Forthe year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. 23 R HitEUL =T (&)

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based on AEBBIBEIFERERARF LR RRER
the aging of customers collectively that are not individually B REWHIENZEREERENT ¢

significant as follows:

As at 31 March 2021 R-B-—-H=ZA=+—H
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
hnREF 9 FEHA
BiR=E IREEAE BEREE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
TH T THET
Within 3 months R=1EH A 0% 3,674 -
3months to 1 year —BAE—F 0% 1,819 =
5,493 =
As at 31 March 2020 RZFZFF=A=+—H
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
IR
B =R FREEAE EREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Within 3 months R=EAR 0% 7,161 -
3months to 1 year —BAZE—%F 0% 693 -
7,854 -

BFEHEERAT
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A R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. S5 R E#fEUNE1E (48)

The movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables is set out B S REWTER EEREEEIT
below:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHIT
At 1 April REA—H - 7415
Amount reclassified as held for sale BN EARELENSE - (6,934)
Exchange alignment [E A% - (481)
At 31 March R=A=+—H - -
Notes: BT
0] Included in the amount of other receivables as at 31 March 2021, approximately 0] RZTZ—F=A=+—8 st AHEMEKKE
HK$24,000 (2020: HK$22,000) and HK$309,000 (2020: nil) represented the B B 492400080 (=T = F4F 1 22000 7T0)
amount due from Mr. Wang Xiaogj, the executive director of the Company and 123090008 T (=T T4 « T)IEERAQTIH
amounts due from former subsidiaries. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free TES TR AMNKRIE R ERATHERQ AR
and repayment on demand. 1 - FAREREER - £ B REREREER -
(ii) The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables at an amount (ii) AEBRBSER REABHEEBENSHTE
equal to 12-month ECL. The Group recognised 12-month ECL for other H i RIBR E B - REEIRERFIEN
receivables based on the internal credit rating of receivables as follows: A EBE B ST AR B B Ath PE WOGR I RERR 12 (8 A TE RS
BEEENT -
Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
FAHEER IREAE BiERE
% HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
As at 31 March 2021 RZTE=Z—F=A=+—H
Performing B4 0% 827 =
Doubtful ] &t 100% 309 309
1,136 309
Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
FEHEIER IRMAE EBEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
As at 31 March 2020 R-BE-THE=F=+—H
Performing B 0% 874 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HE—-Z—

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

—%=A=+—AILFE

20. €5 RHEMBYWRIE &)

GEE

(ii) (Continued)

The movement in the loss allowance for other receivables is set out below:

(ii) (%)

H A EUFORR B R BRI EEMT

21.

2021 2020

—B-—-F —EBCTF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FA&T

At 1 April R A—H = 4,206
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FRIBETHERH

during the year EERE 309 -

Amount write-off as uncollectible EE AT AIIREI BN S5 = (700)

Amount reclassified as held for sale BNOBRBFIEHENS T - (3.278)

Exchange alignment [ 35, 3% - (228)

At 31 March R=A=+—H 309 -

There was approximately HK$309,000 (2020: nil) impairment loss recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

HE-_Z-—F=ZA=+—HLLFE ' BROR
EE184)309,0008 T (Z B 24 : M)BHAL
AEZREMEEKRERSP -

CONTRACT ASSETS BRNEE
2021 2020
—E-— —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FH&T
Unbilled revenue of system development RERESONARAERE
contract 225 1,193

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to receive
consideration for work completed but not yet billed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group's future performance accepted
by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.

The Group classifies these contract assets under current assets
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating
cycle.

There was no impairment loss recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: nil).

BHEETERAEEHC TRERFAREN
THE WK ENENER - RESERER
BUARAREEREFBRKRNRKRR - EF
BRENKAEGNE  ANEERERER
2 MR

AREBRSONEESBATDEE R
A4 EEER EFESRNREENE
ESR -

BE-T-—FZAST—AILEE 18
ERDAEBRT G BERE AR
HEF(CEoBE ) -

EFREERAT
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

22.

23.

162

BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

22.

BAFEFABRENEREE

2021 2020
—E-— —ETF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FAT
Wealth management products by the bank R BRI IRITIR I E f
in the PRC 28,623 29,035

The wealth management products by the bank in the PRC with
underlying financial instrument mainly consist of the short-term
bonds, money market investment fund and bank deposits of the
PRC.

The wealth management products carried floating interest rate at
2.02%-3.73% per annum as at 31 March 2021 (2020: 2.40%-3.88%).

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$8,167,000 (2020: HK$8,915,000) which were
denominated in Renminbi. The remittance of these funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the
PRC government.

Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates which range from 0.3% to 0.35% per annum (2020: 0.3%
t0 0.35% per annum).
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MW-ZE-—F=ZA=+—H BHERKYT
FEME202EEIBE(ZE_ZHF 1 240
[EZE383E)stE -

RITERRASE
RZZEZ—F=A=+—H A£EHEBMU
ARBEHERRITHEER R IR $ 498,167,000
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Forthe year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

24. EF RHEMENRE

2021 2020

=B —-F —ECTRE

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FAT

Trade payables B S ENFIE 4,696 7,167
Accruals JEETEH 543 1,716
Other tax payable Hh fE 7218 = 75
Other payables (note i) H A e oA (i aEi) 29,110 5,698
34,349 14,656

The

following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based

on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

UTARRERRZEZAHEINNE S E

AR IRER DA -

2021 2020

=B —F —EFF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Within 30 days R30BER 3,544 5974
31 to 90 days 31290 H = 1,193
Over 91 days H®iEo1 B 1,152 -
4,696 7,167

HERER TRFHEEHRNT30E21208 -
AEBEEMRYBRERERE - LAERTEE
NFEREEER RS

The average credit period granted by its suppliers ranging from 30 to
120 days. The Group has financial risk management in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

Note: BT

(i) Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2021, approximately (i)
HK$24,563,000 (2020: nil) represented the amounts due to former subsidiaries of
which amounted to approximately RMB3,851,000 (equivalent to HK$4,565,000)
(2020: nil) related to interest payables to a former subsidiary of the Company,
Beijing Huaqin World Technology Company Limited (‘Beijing Huaqin") 1t ;2 %
£) X b B 5 B IR 2 8. The amount is unsecured, carried People’s Bank of
China interest rate of 4.75% per annum and repayment on demand.

R-E-—F=ZA=+—Bzt AEMENFEDN
S EEXY 245630008 (ZEZFF « T) ZEAT
B /28 2 B R T8 A R % 3,851,000 7T (HHE 174 4,565,000
BIL(ZTZZTF : T) » ZAEEEMNTRIM B
AR REGHRINBIERBRAR ([ REH ) K
FEBH - ZeEAEER  RHIRAREITF
FIZ 4750 5t B AIRERERK
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. EHNAE
2021 2020
=B —-F —ECTRE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FAT
Revenue from system development contract 3k B R4 B A QU 690 251
Contract liabilities represents advances received for the system BREREVRESERAESHWEERK - EL
development contract. The performance obligation would be BEEHR RS TR REK -
satisfied upon the time of the completion of system development.
No revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2021 that HE_Z-_—4%-A=-+—HULEFEIED
was included in the contract liabilities as at 1 April 2020 (2020 nil). RN EAFAZE_ZEFNA/—HHNAE

HWABE(ZZ-ZF  |) -

26. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 26. BAFEFABENERMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020
=B —F —ET_TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Financial liabilities arising in relation to the MREHEFRBEEN
provision of the Profit Guarantee TRIEE - -
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2021 #HE-_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE

26. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The financial liabilities represented the provision of the Profit
Guarantee contained in an investment agreement between
Shenzhen Quantum and the non-controlling shareholder of
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd (“CITIC Cyber
Security”):

m

In the event that the net profit attributable to the shareholders
of CITIC Cyber Security (after deducting non-recurring profit
and loss) for the year ended 31 December 2019, 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2021 is less than RMB800,000,
RMB40,000,000 and RMB85,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Net
Profit"), respectively, Shenzhen Quantum shall compensate
CITIC Technology in accordance with the following formula:

Compensation amount = (Guaranteed Net Profit for the year
— actual net profit for the year)
x30% x 10

In the event that the average net profit attributable to the
shareholders of CITIC Cyber Security (after deducting non-
recurring profit and loss) for the three years ending 31
December 2021 is less than RMB40,000,000, the aggregate net
profit attributable to the shareholders of CITIC Cyber Security
(after deducting non-recurring profit and loss) for the three
years ending 31 December 2021 is less than RMB120,000,000,
there is material default, or serious illegal business has been
undertaken by CITIC Cyber Security, CITIC Technology may
request Shenzhen Quantum to acquire the equity interest in
CITIC Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology in accordance
with the terms and conditions of such investment agreement.

26 ENFEHFABRZENESHMER
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26.
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BE—_T_—H=FA=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Details of the investment agreement have been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 12 October 2018.

Financial liabilities arising in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum and its subsidiary CITIC Cyber Security (collectively referred
to as “Shenzhen Quantum Group”) is unsecured, interest-free and
not repayable within twelve months. Balance of financial liabilities
arising in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum Group
was primarily earn-up of approximately HK$1,792,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019 (HK$11,762,000 as at acquisition date on 4 July
2018). Earn-up will be realised if the CITIC Cyber Security achieve
certain profit targets during the designated period of time. Details of
earn-up measurement are set out as above mentioned.

During the year, the Group remeasured fair value of financial
liabilities of profit guarantee in investment arrangement based on
the market outlook and their prevailing business plans and
projections. No change in fair value of financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (2020: gain of HKS$1,792,000) was recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2021. The fair value of financial
liabilities assessment is calculated based on discounted cash flows of
future payment with the estimated future profit of these acquired
businesses in Shenzhen Quantum and subject to ceiling level up to
net assets of Shenzhen Quantum Group.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2021

26 ENFEHFABRZENESHMER

(%)
RABANFBEERIRAAR WA —F
—N\E+AT=AHRER -

RUWBRIETREMNBARPERL (5
BIFYNEFEBDFEEANCRBERE
i 2ERBANT-_EARNEE - HZE
“E-NFZA=+—HLFE  RWER
JEFEBEENCHBEEHRTIERRT
#91,7920008 T (RWERAH T —N\F+
APUH &11,762,000787T) ° i P 58215
ERRREBEATRES SR EZ - Bl HE
BZEH - BFFTEMFIBFL0 AT -

RERA - AEBREBEM SR LRITHER
a8 M IERI T B E EIE Bhag P B0 AR
ENERABEATE BE-T-_—F=A
=t+—BLFE  BAFHEFABRNSE
BENATELAEH (T _FF  ha
17920008 7T) - BB BN A FEIRE
AERMNFHEERBERERLFERINET
H U SR 75 TR TR AT ) 2R SROE R T 4 th R A -
YHEZFRIEFEENEEFE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=
NN

V%R B Rt

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE_T_—F=A=t+—HILFE

27. DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

27. PEAFFEHENHEAR

SALE
(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (a) HEKBAQTE

China Mobile Payment Technology Group Company Limited Hzr-_=-ZENA+HB PEX

(“China Mobile") was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of MEFREBEAERAR(FEZMN] A

the Company up to 19 August 2020. It held 90% equity RARA—REBEZEWB AR - Hif

interests in Hua Strong Network Science and Technology BEXBHERVFEERARI(TEX])

Company Limited (“Hua Strong") which in turn held 51% 90% A - MERFFHILREL51% MK

equity interests in Beijing Huagin, and controlled the board of - RIESHIERESHESS (AT HE

directors of Beijing Huagin (hereafter collectively referred to as [HEAR]) -

the “disposal group”).

The directors of the Group resolved to dispose of the entire HREREEREEBEENEEERER

equity interests in China Mobile as management was in view B AEEEEEHEALEREE

that results of the business were behind their expectation. As N2 ERE - R E-_ZTF=H

at 31 March 2020, assets and liabilities of the disposal group =t—H HEHENEEMEGED

had been classified as assets classified as held for sales and ESEABIERHENEEUREDE

liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale and ARFEHENEERBENERE IR

were presented separately in the consolidated statement of AR ARPERBRZY -

financial position.

On 19 August 2020, the Group disposed 100% of the entire RZE_ZEFNA+NEB KEBMN

share capital of China Mobile, at consideration of HK$50,000, RAB500008 M —BEBILE=F W

to an independent third party. The net liabilities of disposal ERETE IR 100% o A

group at the date of disposal were as follows: EHHEEARMNaEFENT
HK$'000
FH&T

Consideration: RAE -

Other receivables H fth fE I8 50
HKS$'000
FH&T

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which REEHENEEREBD N

control was lost:

Plant and equipment & 33

Trade and other receivables B 5 REHAEIGIE 2,285

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BEAFETABENCREE 6,660

Restricted cash ZREEE 127

Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LR 130

Trade and other payables B 5 NEMENFIR (79,204)

Net liabilities disposed of EHEEEFE (69,969)

ETRHEBRAR
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27. DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR 27. D EAFEHENHEAR (8)

SALE (Continued)
(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued) (a) HEMEBAE (H)
HK$'000
FH&TT
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBEARKE :
Consideration receivable FEWRAE 50
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAEFE 69,969
Liabilities assumed upon disposal of subsidiaries HERBATIBEAENEE (22,446)
Non-controlling interests eI (28,822)
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve upon REENBARIBETRHLE
disposal of the subsidiaries St EFE 1373
20,124
HK$'000
FAET
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of subsidiaries: H &M BN TR SR FE -
Cash consideration received BEYERER(E -
Less: restricted cash, bank balances and B ERENZRHIRS
cash disposed of RITHEHBR LR (257)
(257)
The disposal did not constitute a discontinued operation as it HEFBMMEK —BE R IR ET -
did not represent a major line of business or geographical area REAEWIFEXBENEEMET
of operation. H[@ o

168 Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are SRR M AL

Forthe year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

27. DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE (Continued)

(b) Assets and liabilities of disposal group
classified held for sale

The following assets and liabilities were reclassified as held for
sale in relation to the group of subsidiaries as at 31 March

27. PEAFFEHENHEAR (&)

(b) 7ERFBEHENHEARN
EEREE
BHE-_T-TE=A=+—-0 KT
EENBBENHPARWELAM

2020. R BBEFEHE -
As at
31 March 2020
RZZEZETF
=ZA=+—H
HKS$'000
FET
Assets classified as held for sale PEABBEHENEE
Plant and equipment BT 33
Trade and other receivables H 5 R HMEW IR 1,303
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss RAFESABGEHNEREE 6,559
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 230
8,125
Liabilities associated with assets classified HAYFABELENEE
as held for sale HRENERE
Trade and other payables (notes i, i and i) B 5 N B FEAS OB (Bt Rt - i K2iii) 76,704
Notes: ffsE -
(i) Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2020, (i) MNZEB-_TFE=F=+—H:t AEMERN

approximately of HK$194,000 represented the amount due to Mr. Chan
Foo Wing, the ultimate beneficial owner of the Company. The amount is
unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand.

(if) Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2020,
approximately of HK$10,932,000 represented the amount due to an
independent third party, it I i &5 18 Z A& BB R A 7). The
amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand.

(iii) Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2020,
approximately of HK$2,353,000 represented the amount payable to
several former employees of Beijing Huagin due to the litigations in
respect of the termination of employment.

FRIER L READ 194,000 B LI BT A A Rl &
RERER ARE R EERNIE o %KE
REER - REREREKERER -

(ii) RoZ-—TE=-F=+— Bt ARMmEN
FRIEH) £ EB 49 10,932,000 7 TT 15 FE S B
FE=FtRmEEESKNEERARN
I ZAREERE  SERAKRER
Hig -

iy R-ZE_TF-—A=+—Hit AHEMEN
FRIEH £ B8 492,353,000 8 L84 MR IHE
ARFREREM L RESHETEZATE
BMFE -
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28.

29‘

110

DEFERRED TAXATION 28. ELERIE

As at 31 March 2021, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the tax losses of approximately HK$183,263,000 (2020:
HK$165,664,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has tax losses of approximately
HK$88,240,000 (2020: HK$77,673,000) that will be expired within next
five years. The remaining tax losses of approximately HK$ 95,023,000
(2020: HK$87,991,000) may be carried forward indefinitely.

RZEZ—F=A=+—H AREEER
RKEBFRIFE WAL EFEHREBEELY
183,263,000 7L (ZF ZF4F © 165,664,000 75
T0) RIELER AL E -

RZBE-Z—F=ZA=+—H  AEEHFHE
B 18 #9882400008L( = & = T F:
77,673,000 70) R EF A EE - SR TR
TH &5 18 49950230008 ( —Z T = & F ¢
87,991,000 4 7T ) A #EFR Hi4E4E o

SHARE CAPITAL 29. R
Number of Share
shares capital
BB E &N
000 HK$'000
F & FET
Ordinary share of HK$0.10 each A E AR 01078 7T
Authorised: /iff
1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 R_E—NFEHUA—A
and 31 March 2021 —E-FF=A=+—8"
ZE-EFMA—BRK
—E-—9¥=A8=+—H 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITEER
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 RZZE—HhEWMA—A -
and 31 March 2021 —E-ETFE=A=+—H0"
—E-TFMA—BAR
—E-—F=H=+—H 1,356,250 135,625
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30.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided
for in the consolidated financial statements are set out as follows:

HREE
RIBEIR + HRRRA BB RRERO R
REERFIMT -

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT FH&T
Accrued interests on late settlement EEEEFAER
of litigation claims JEET AR = 6,253

On 1 April 2018, a former subsidiary of the Company, Beijing Huagin
was involved in material litigation that a supplier of Beijing Huagin
filed a litigation with Shanghai Municipal Intermediate People’s
Court No. 1 (the “Court”) against Beijing Huagin for compensation
on default in payment due to the disagreement of the goods’
quantity delivered.

On 31 May 2018, the Court ordered Beijing Huagin to repay the
alleged amount involved in the litigation in respect of the default
payment for the supply of goods. As at 31 March 2020, an amount of
approximately RMB49,721,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$54,355,000) was recorded in liabilities associated with assets
classified as held for sale (note 27).

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has not yet fully
settled the alleged amounts. As at 31 March 2020, the amount of
accrued interests on delay settlement of the remaining alleged
amount was approximately RMB5,720,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,253,000).

R-ZE—N\FOA—B  AREWATHBA
AL RES S RERFR - L REHH—F
HER A LEE —FRARER ([3EBR]) 12
HERER - BRI REHREACINEVHE
DIRMERER—FXTEEE -

R-Z—N\FREA=Z+—8 ZRTFTS4R
EHAEERBEREDHRENERNFNR
FTpRkMEBRE R _FEF= A
—+—H  HAEARKE497210007T (FHE R
#4954,355,0007870) FIEE AR AE 5 5E
ARELEEERBNAE (HiE27) -

HE-_Z-ZTF=-"A=1+—HIEE K&
BN ARBEEERTE R - TFE=
A=+—H HEELEEHTHIEBREE
R ESREL B AR S5,7200007T (48
BN #96,253,000787T) °
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31.

32.

112

SRR I ot

BHE_Z-_—F=RA=+—HItFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 31. EBARS
Compensation of key management personnel FEEE ASNHEN
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members FRARRESENHMBTEEEAENHE
of key management personnel during the year was as follows: PN
2021 2020
—E-— —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FH&T
Short-term benefits EHAREH 1,813 1,650
Post-employment benefits RRAEF 24 36
1,837 1,686
RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME 32. RIRFRIGFHE
The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong AEERBERERHMERBELFTEEH AR
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying EEBEHREBEERNBETTE - 255
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held %‘JE’\JQFE@K%.E’Jﬁﬁ PFRA  WHE
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of TANEESTE - NEBKREBIEKARN
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped 5% A58 TE S .fl’iﬂf’lfnﬂf ;o HFRAERA500

at HKS$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries in the
PRC are required to contribute to a state-managed retirement plan
for all its employees at a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its
employees. The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees. Under
the state-managed retirement plan, the Group has no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total cost charged to
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of approximately HK$321,000 (2020: HK$816,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of
the respective accounting period.
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 33. LR AERNARRS

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company

The Company's new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to written resolution of the Company passed on 1
August 2011 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 31 July 2021.
Under the New Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may
grant employee or consultant, advisor, agent, contractor, client or
supplier of the Company or any subsidiary who in the sole opinion
of the board of directors have contributed or are expected to
contribute to the Group, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company as at the date of passing of the relevant
ordinary resolution. The number of shares issued and to be issued in
respect of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the issue
share capital of the Company for the time being (the “Individual
Limit"). Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors or any of their respective associates, would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in any one
year up to and including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of
the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up on the date of grant, upon
payment of HK$1.00. Options may be exercised at any time from the
date of grant of the share option to the tenth anniversary of the date
of grant. The exercise price is determined by the board of directors
of the Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
nominal value of the Company'’s share; (ii) the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date of grant; and (iii) the average closing
price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant.

No share options have been granted since the adoption of the
scheme and during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

RAF AR E SR BRES S

ARBRRER-_ZF——FN\A—BBBENE
ERE SRR AR RS ((H=t@® ) =
EEHEHBEFRAERET  THR-F
——FtA=t—BEm  REHMTE - &
AAEFGAREZER R/ HRTBEHRE A
SEELERHARRREMMERFNRE
BaEER - FEAA R AR BRE
HERRLBRE  URBARERD -

BUARIRRZ AT 8] T 4% 6 B DA T I O A%
DRHETBEBBR AT BAZRABEEH
IR BRI EI10% o BLAAE ] — & mE A&
ABRHEAI FEEOERERS RHE %
TR TEITHRGOEE TERBAREE
RFE BT AR 1% ([ERBI EBR]) - W T
FERESB LI TE F R EEAEBHEA
BAE  BERRETEER T RERTZA
T FT A AR RE T B 81T M8 TR ITRRR
(BIEEITE - B REARITEEERE)
RERN—FREEE@EETHEB(REZE)
HR B AR BIAR AN EY 0.19% 2k (B {5 #8 38 5,000,000
BT AIE S MBERN TSRS E -

RIS 1008 TR - B E B AE XA R
A EIE R - B R N B A A
B+ BFABERITE - (TREHARAES
SETE BRTMER: 0ARBROEE :
(VAR AR AR L B BB W E - K (i)
SRR B Y REE Z B RO FHRT

BERAZEEMNNBE-_TE_—FR-F
“ERFZA=+-REFEIERBEAE
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34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 34, RIEERHELENEEHER

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from TRHFUAEFBRETHESNABEES -
financing activity, including both cash and non-cash change. BEEESNIIEESEE - mETHELANE

ERREMEIRKREREGNAEELR
EREREXRTOERREZTDESREN

Liabilities arising from financing activity is those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing BEo
activity.
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
HK$’000
FET
(note 17)
(FfFEE17)
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZTFMA—H 7,086
Financing cash flows: HERERE
— Repayment — &N (2,279)
Non-cash changes: FESEH
— Increase in accruals — FERT B AL N (80)
— Lease derecognised due to the adjustment upon — RAEERARMK I EERNEE
lease modification (3,376)
— Income from waived of lease repayment (note 8) — R HEEERHBA () (128)
— Interest on lease liabilities recognised — ERRNEHESEN A 152
— Exchange realignment —EH AR 688
At 31 March 2021 RZE-_—F=A=+—H 2,063

Lease liabilities

HEBE
HK$'000
FAT
(note 17)
(FF5E17)
At 1 April 2019 RZZE-NFMNA—H -
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 16 Lease RIERB Y BHRE%ER
F16HERETHRE 9112
Financing cash flows: BEBEBRSRE -
— Repayment — & (2,590)
Non-cash changes: IER )
— New lease recognised — ERRNFEE 9,287
— Lease derecognised due to termination — BRI L EREE (6,786)
— Increase in accruals — JERTE AN (1,374)
— Income from waived of lease repayment (note 8) — R HEERWA (HES) (488)
— Interest on lease liabilities recognised —EERNEEAENE 366
— Exchange realignment — B AR (441)
At 31 March 2020 R-_E_ZF=HA=+—H 7,086
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35. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2021

35. AR RMBARRRBER

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5T TET FETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment R K a4 37 47
Investments in subsidiaries WMERAZEE (@) = -
37 47
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other ®Be - FANHRIEREARE
receivables WRIE (b) 685 685
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NGIE /e (© = -
Cash and cash equivalents He kIREEEY 9,639 17,695
10,324 18,380
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals HEEMFIE R ERTER 450 700
Net current assets RBEEFE 9,874 17,680
Total assets less current liabilities #EEERATEE 9,911 17,727
Equity s
Share capital A A 135,625 135,625
Reserves G ) (125,714) (117,898)
Total equity AR 9,911 17,727
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Yeung
TR L [Ip=3
Director Director
= EE
BFEHEERAT

R —FERE
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BE—_F_—F=H=t+HLFE

35. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

35. AR A BARRKRNER (&)

(Continued)
Notes: BT
(@) As at 31 March 2021, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost of HK$26 @) RIBE-—F=A=+—H RHEBRARINKE
(2020: HK$26), no impairment loss in respect of investments in subsidiaries has TR AR 268 T (ZE T 4F : 267670) 5IFR -
been recognised in profit or loss for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. MRK B RN E S RARESETERNEE
CECFR-IFIZFZA=ZTHIEFER
B R o
(b) Included in the amounts of other receivables as at 31 March 2021, the gross (b) BENR B —F=ZA=+—AHtERFE
amount approximately HK$287,000 (2020: nil) represented the amounts due SREA - FEURAT MY A B FRIE A AR FE XY 287,000 78
from former subsidiaries with accumulated loss allowance on other receivables (T -TF &) HEWEIE KT E 185
of approximately HK$287,000 (2020: nil). The amount is unsecured, interest-free 1&#9287,0007%8 7T (= TFE:E) ZESTHAE
and repayment on demand. IR B REERERE -
There was approximately HK$31,000 (2020: nil) impairment loss recognised in HE-Z-—F=ZA=1+—RHLLFE  REE1E
the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income ahEMHEERERTHNEBERREBEY
for the year ended 31 March 2021. 31,000 BT (ZEZFF : &) °
© Amounts due from subsidiaries © FEUSHT B A R FRIE
2021 2020
—B-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Amounts due from subsidiaries - PNGIE S ) 95,320 93,426
Less: accumulated loss allowance W REHEIRRE (95,320) (93,426)
At 31 March R=A=+—8 - -
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and FEU B AT B AEET 2B NEERKEE -
repayable on demand.
For the year ended 31 March 2021, impairment loss approximately HK$2,150,000 BE-—_ZEZ-—F=fA=4+—RIEE prKHB
(2020: reversal of impairment loss approximately HK$9,508,000) on amounts due NARIBRBEEEL 2150008 T (ZE-FF :
from subsidiaries were recognised in profit or loss. Sl E 1B B B 499,508,000 7T ) ERNIEZR R ER ©
Included in the amounts due from subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021, the carrying R-E-—F=A=+—H:st \EKHB AT R
amount of approximately HK$256,000 (2020: HK$256,000) with accumulated loss TH /) BE T (B 4 52560000 T( =& = T 4 :
allowance of approximately HK$256,000 were reclassified to other receivables 256,000 7% 7T ) & [F 2 5T 18 B 49 256,000 7T 2
which related to amount due to a former subsidiary. EFHAEHMEIRIE - EEEN—TERIMNB
YNCIE SR =
(d) Movements in reserves ) =1t
Share premium  Accumulated losses Total
RGRE ZitER wct
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 RZF-AFMA—R 101,852 (221,882) (120,030)
Profit and total comprehensive FEREF N E A
income for the year 2HEWEE - 2,132 2,132
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-ZE-_ZTF=-HA=+—H
—E-FFMA—H 101,852 (219,750) (117,898)
Loss and total comprehensive expense  F A& 18 K2 EL A
for the year FHEMX = (7,816) (7,816)
At 31 March 2021 RZTE=Z—F=A=+—H 101,852 (227,566) (125,714)
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A IR ERR M

Forthe yearended 31 March2021 #HE-_T-_—F=A=+—HIFE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 36. AATIMB AT MNEE
COMPANY
Details of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 R —FF—_E-_FF=HA=+—HBXK
are as follows: NAMBARKFBEHINET
Issued and
fully paid
Place of ordinary share
incorporation/ capital/ Percentage of equity
establishment/ Class of registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation sharesheld  capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
L&
BRER
AL/ Figke  BRE/
WRARER RI/g%% 85 EfEx FARRERAEERFABAIL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HE GE3
2021 2020 2021 2020
Z8--% CTCTE ZB--F “TC%F
China Integrated Telecommunications  The British Virgin Ordinary USs1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Group Co. Limited Islands ("BVI')
PERAEAEEBRA ABALES i35l 0 100% 100% - - REBR
(RBELZEE])
China 020 Business Group Co. Limited  BVI Ordinary Uss1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
PEONEXEEER AT ABRAEE B 157 100% 100% - - RERR
Excellent Master Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% = - Financing and administrative
expense for the Group
Excellent Master Investments Limited &8 Ld 1B 100% 100% - - REEMEHRITEAR
YBDS Multimedia Company Limited BVl Ordinary Uss1 100% 100% - - Online network systems
development
ERSREERAT EERIES B E 100% 100% - - BIBEZSRE
Mobile Payment Technology Group ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - 100% - - Investment holding
Company Limited (note il
SAMBEEERAR () BE 351 187 - 100% - - RERR
Yunbo Digital Synergy Company Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% = = Investment holding
Limited
EBEXERAT Y B 1L 100% 100% - - RERKR
Pacific Honour Development Limited ~Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
EIEERARAA &R i35 17 - - 100% 100% AR
Guangzhou YBDSIT Co, Ltd * PRC Contributed ~ RMB40,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of system
(note i) capital development services,
consultation services and
hardware-related business
BMEEESMRERA e HEER  ARK - - 100% 00% REZFHERY  BY
( ﬁ&\) 4000000070 TR A RE A B £
* For identification purpose only

EFREBRAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 36. A FE)ME A BAIFE (&)

COMPANY (Continued)

Issued and
fully paid
Place of ordinary share
incorporation/ capital/ Percentage of equity
establishment/ Class of registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation sharesheld  capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
EEGIES |
HRER
HRAL/ R  BE/
WEARAR R/ E$8% Bl EMER FARRERAEERKAEAIL TERH
Direct Indirect
HE CE:3
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E--F ZECRE CEC-fF ZZCEZE

Able Bloom Technology Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding

FHERRARAR 3 B 17T - - 100% 100% HEER

China Mobile Payment Technology BVI Ordinary Uss2 - - - 100%  Investment holding
Group Company Limited (note iv)

PES AR EEERAR SBRELES il ET - - - 100% HEER
(PzEv)

Hua Strong Network Science and PRC Contributed ~ US$8,000,000 - - - 90%  Investment holding and IT
Technology Company Limited* capital network consultation
(notes i, iii and iv) service

ERRENBERAR i HEER 8000000ETT - - - 0% FEERREHRER
(s i eiv) BRI

Bejing Huagin World Technology PRC Contributed ~ RMBS50,000,000 - - - 459%  Trading of residential gateway
Company Limited * capital products
(notesiand iv)

FREGRHRHERAA e HEER AR - - - 5% EELEHEEER
(F3Ei Reiv) 500000007

Shenzhen Yunbo Information System  PRC Contributed ~ RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Service Company Limited * capital
(note i)

RMIEBESZARBERRA & HAER  ARK - - 100% 100% REER
(Rt 5,000,000 7C

Shenzhen YBDS IT Co, Ltd * PRC Contributed ~ RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of system
(note ) capital development services

and consultation services

ATREEERBRERAA HE HEER  ARHK - - 100% 100% REZRRERER
(st 500,000 72 BRRS

e For identification purpose only
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V%R B Rt

For the year ended 31 March 2021

AN
%/\m/

BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

Statements

36. AQFMEB QTS (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of ordinary share
incorporation/ capital/ Percentage of equity
establishment/ Class of registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation sharesheld  capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ERTRZE
BRER
FMERYL,/ R  BE/
WEARER R/ By 85l ZREX FAAEERTEERFAER DL TEEK
Direct Indirect
R
2021 2020 2021 2020
“E--F ZECRE ZEC-F ZZCEZE
Shenzhen Anxin Certification System ~ PRC Contributed  RMB50,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co, Ltd* (note ) capital
AMREREZRBRAR HE TEER AR - - 100% 100% REER
(W) 50,000,000 7T
Shenzhen Quantum Technology PRC Contributed ~ RMB10,770,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Information Co, Ltd* capital
(note )
AT EFREAEBRAR HE TEER AR - - 100% 100% REER
(i) 107700007
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security PRC Contributed ~ RMB14,290,000 - - 70% 70% - Technical development and
Authentication Co, Ltd* (note ) capital software development
AT ERRREERDA il HEER AEE - - 70% 0% SRR
(st 142900007
Notes: BT
0] The nature of all the legal entities established in PRC is limited liability company. 0] REBEKIWBEEZEENEEREREED

(i) The subsidiary was being deregistered on 25 September 2020.

(i) As at 31 March 2020, Hua Strong held 51% interest in Beijing Huagin and hence
the Company held a 45.9% effective interest in Beijing Huaqin. The board of
directors of Beijing Huagin was controlled by the Company. Thus, Beijing Huagin

was the Company’s subsidiary.

(iv) China Mobile was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company up to 19
August 2020. It held 90% equity interests in Hua Strong which in turn held 51%
equity interests in Beijing Huaqin, and controlled the board of directors of
Beijing Huagin. On 19 August 2020, the Group disposed 100% of the entire share
capital of China Mobile, at consideration of HK$50,000, to an independent third

party.

For identification purpose only

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

7o

HHBAFER -T-REARC+HAEHE
5

RZZEZTF=A=+—08 EXFEULREH
51% 7z - FULANA B AL R EE) 45.0% B R
wmo L REHEETSHAREES - Bt - bR
EHARARMNMBRR -

HEZZ-_ZFEN\A+IA PEIFEELAF]
Z2HEEE2ENBAR - HFBEXR0%MKE - M
FERFAILREYS10REWIEGI REHES
g -RZZTZZFTFNA+TNAA + KEELA50000
BITORER —ZBLE = HHERELF2E
A&7 #9 100% ©

BFEHEERAT
R —FERE

119
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A R

Forthe yearended 31 March 2021 #HE-_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 36. AN EIME A AR (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities outstanding BMENB AR MEFEFRIFRETE
at the end of both years or at any time during both years. BN BB ES o
Details of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that are A AREE NS BB AR IEE AR RE 25 BB
material to the Group: BAEIRE

Proportion of ownership

Place of interest and voting rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary incorporation non-controlling interest non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FERBEBANETERER IREFERERN
WEARAR ek SRLA B Rt ERER
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
—B--f ZTCZF —B--F ZTCZF —B--F S S
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
CITIC Cyber Security PRC 30% 30% (284) (5763) (3,521) (2976)
PREAR il
Beijing Huagin PRC - 54% N/A! (78) N/A! (16,683)
ERES i T~ER TER
The summarised financial information in respect of each of the NEEESERIEERERHM B AR M
Group's subsidiary or group of subsidiaries that has material non- BAREENMBERBEHINNOT - TX
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial BB ERIZ A BRI HATN 258 -
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.
! Beijing Huagjin was disposed in August 2020. ! IEREHER-_ZETFN\ARLEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR M

Forthe year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=-Z-—F=A=+—HILFE

R —FERE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 36. AR FE)ME R BAIFE (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
CITIC Cyber Security RERZ
2021 2020
—E-— —E-TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE&T FHT
Current assets MEEE 9,898 10,130
Non-current assets EREEE 4,812 9,743
Current liabilities mEBEE (26,038) (26,338)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (409) (3,456)
Net liabilities BEFHE (11,737) (9,921)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ZKA F1EH A JEE RS (8,216) (6,945)
Non-controlling interests SRR R (3,521) (2,976)
2021 2020
—E—F —ETTF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHIT
Revenue U= 4,759 2,170
Other income HEiplg A 8,236 1,348
Expenses 53 (13,943) (22,728)
Loss for the year FAEIE (948) (19,210)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KAREHER ARG EE (664) (13,447)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests  3F1E I w JE1G & 18 (284) (5,763)
Loss for the year FHEE (948) (19,210)
Other comprehensive expense attributable RATHRAE AR EMEERZ
to owners of the Company (608) (76)
Other comprehensive expense attributable IR EREEEMEERE
to the non-controlling interests (260) (32)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMEERY (868) (108)
Total comprehensive expense attributable KARHAEAEEEERASZ B
to owners of the Company (1,271) (13,523)
Total comprehensive expense attributable IR EE AR B
to the non-controlling interests (545) (5,795)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FARHEMS BT (1,816) (19,318)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from ESEFHNIRSARA CRh)
operating activities FER 1,085 (7,929)
Net cash outflow from investing activities K& EENIRE M F5E (6,165) (3,660)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BB EHNIE S R EEE (1,399) (3,084)
Net cash outflow W& M FEE (6,479) (14,673)
ETRHEBRAR
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36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 36. AN EIME A AR (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
Beijing Huaqin b S EEE)
2020
—EEF
HKS$'000
FAT
Current assets mENEE 31,425
Non-current assets ERBEE 33
Current liabilities mEAE (62,295)
Net liabilities BEFHE (30,837)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company PA/NSIE RS DNy (14,154)
Non-controlling interests VTR M (16,683)
2020
—EEF
HKS$'000
FAT
Other income HAbUg A 215
Expenses s (360)
Loss for the year FNEBE (145)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KRa)ER AEILEE (67)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests FEPE AR M o PR (G BT 1R (78)
Loss for the year FAEIE (145)
Other comprehensive income attributable RRTHEE ANEEE M E RS
to owners of the Company 983
Other comprehensive income attributable FEVEAR e e FEAE L 2T U R
to the non-controlling interests 1,158
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEEREE 2,141
Total comprehensive income KATIHEBEAEEEE
attributable to owners of the Company Was4aza 916
Total comprehensive income IR R EmRE
attributable to the non-controlling interests 1,080
Total comprehensive income for the year FREMK=EE 1,996
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEEBRIRS R E R (866)
Net cash inflow from investing activities KEEHHNIRESRAFE 921
Net cash inflow REMNFE 55
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37.

38.

Are MR M Rt

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE—_T_—S=FA=+—HItFE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, pursuant to the adjustment
of lease madification, the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,745,000 and HK$3,376,000
were derecognised respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group entered into two
new arrangements in respect of buildings. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of approximately HK$9,287,000 were recognised at
the commencement of the leases.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, pursuant to the termination
of lease agreement entered into with an independent landlord, the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$6,690,000 and HK$6,786,000 were derecognised
respectively.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

CITIC Cyber Security, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the JV Shareholders’ Agreement dated 30
September 2020 with China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd.
("China Mobile Group”), China United Network Communications
Group Company Limited (“China Unicom Group”), China
Telecommunications Corporation (“China Telecom Corporation”)
and Chinese Shield Anicert, pursuant to which the parties agreed to
jointly establish the JV Company to be a digital technology company
providing computer software development and system integration
services to its shareholders and other parties.

Pursuant to the JV Shareholders’ Agreement, the registered capital of
the JV Company would amount to RMB100,000,000, among which,
China Mobile Group, China Telecom Corporation, China Unicom
Group, CITIC Cyber Security and Chinese Shield Anicert would
contribute RMB24 million, RMB20 million, RMB20 million, RMB20
million and RMB16 million and each of them would respectively own
24%, 20%, 20%, 20% and 16% of the equity interest in the JV
Company. CITIC Cyber Security undertakes to procure that on or
before 31 December 2021, 50% or more of its shareholding shall be
state-owned and the state-owned shareholders in CITIC Cyber
Security shall be concert parties when deciding matters relating to
the JV Company, including changes in equity interest, election of
senior management and operation of the JV Company. As such,
upon fulfilment of the Undertaking, the equity interest of the Group
in CITIC Cyber Security will be diluted from 70% to less than 50%.

37.

38.

FEHFBRESRS
BE-_Z-—E=A=1+—HILFE  BiE
HEBHNMARE FTHESEMHEEARD
SREME 9 BI4)2,745,00078 7L F13,376,00078 7T
B RIAR ETERR o

HE_Z_ZF-A=1+—HILEE &=
ESEFI I - (FREEENA
BB 1E#49,287,000/8 TN H EMIARER -

REE-Z-_ZFZA=+—RHILFE =
BRIFEBYEIIUNES S o FAE
BERHEEABNREES B 6,690,000
TC X 6,786,000 8 T 2 4% IEFERR ©

BREPREE
RABNEZRIFZENBRARTERL D
HERERFHEEEEERAR([HEBHE
) PEBEASEREEEARAR(H
BEEEE])  PHEEEEARAF(H
HEFKE]) LTEREN_"F_FFNA
=T BRRITEERBRRGH - Bl - 774
HAEGHRERRKILAERBAIEREFR
BRRE LAEBRREEMETOTREFTE
MR B R R R

RIBEERFIRRBENGK  &ELQRHW
A AR A AR 1000000007 © He A
EEESHEE - PEEEEE - FEBRS
R ERETRRERERDRILEARE
24,000,000 7T + A B #20,000,0007C + AR
20,000,0007C + A ¥ 20,000,000 7T & A R #&
160000007 ' MEEEZ B RFEEEE
N F124% ~ 20% ~ 20% ~ 20% K2 16% & A% #E o
FEATERBERER_ZE-—F+ A
=+ — B Z RIS E 50% sk LA R HEER AR
B MPENTHEERRBEAEREEGER
AEB(BEREEE  HESRERAE
LEBRRIEL)N—BITBAL - Bt -
RBITHEERE  AEBRPEEZHRER
FR 709% #:5E 2= 1 2 50% ©

EFREERAT
= il
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE=Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

38. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 38. HEMEREE(E)
(Continued)
The deemed disposal may constitute a notifiable transaction of the RIEHERHEARBRARAN —HATA
Company and may be subject to the reporting, announcement 5 » Al BIRIEGEM FiRBIE 10F &
requirements and shareholders’ approval requirements (if applicable) SFEER C AE RREIERRE (EE) -

under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of which are disclosed on the Company’s announcements EEAEHPBRRBE)INIEERRRGIELNES
dated 10 February 2021 and 25 May 2021 in relation to, among ENFERERNAARIBEA-—E - —F—
others, the JV formation and the deemed disposal. A+BER-_ZE-_—FRA-+HANAE -
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